APRIL 2024

A REPORT OF THE CSIS AEROSPACE SECURITY PROJECT

SPACE THREAT ASSESSMENT 2024

Authors

CLAYTON SWOPE KARI A. BINGEN MAKENA YOUNG MADELEINE CHANG STEPHANIE SONGER JEREMY TAMMELLEO

Foreword ERIC FANNING

CSIS

CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES APRIL 2024

SPACE THREAT ASSESSMENT 2024

Authors

CLAYTON SWOPE KARI A. BINGEN MAKENA YOUNG MADELEINE CHANG STEPHANIE SONGER JEREMY TAMMELLEO

Foreword ERIC FANNING

A REPORT OF THE CSIS AEROSPACE SECURITY PROJECT



CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

ABOUT CSIS

The Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) is a bipartisan, nonprofit policy research organization dedicated to advancing practical ideas to address the world's greatest challenges.

Thomas J. Pritzker was named chairman of the CSIS Board of Trustees in 2015, succeeding former U.S. senator Sam Nunn (D-GA). Founded in 1962, CSIS is led by John J. Hamre, who has served as president and chief executive officer since 2000.

CSIS's purpose is to define the future of national security. We are guided by a distinct set of values—nonpartisanship, independent thought, innovative thinking, cross-disciplinary scholarship, integrity and professionalism, and talent development. CSIS's values work in concert toward the goal of making real-world impact.

CSIS scholars bring their policy expertise, judgment, and robust networks to their research, analysis, and recommendations. We organize conferences, publish, lecture, and make media appearances that aim to increase the knowledge, awareness, and salience of policy issues with relevant stakeholders and the interested public.

CSIS has impact when our research helps to inform the decisionmaking of key policymakers and the thinking of key influencers. We work toward a vision of a safer and more prosperous world.

CSIS does not take specific policy positions; accordingly, all views expressed herein should be understood to be solely those of the author(s).

© 2024 by the Center for Strategic and International Studies. All rights reserved.

ABOUT ASP

The Aerospace Security Project (ASP) is a trusted resource for policymakers, offering insightful thoughts and in-depth analyses on policy issues, operational concepts, technology trends, and economic drivers in the space and air domains. Our mission is to educate and inform policymakers and the public, conduct independent research and analysis, and convene experts with broad perspectives to advance creative and practical solutions that address the security challenges facing the United States and our allies and partners. ASP also fosters the next generation of scholars in national security space and air power policy through fellowship and internship opportunities.

Part of the International Security Program at CSIS, Aerospace Security is led by Senior Fellow Kari A. Bingen and includes a distinguished group of expert affiliates spanning national security, civilian, commercial, and international aerospace issues.

Center for Strategic & International Studies 1616 Rhode Island Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20036 202-887-0200 | www.csis.org

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This report is made possible by general support to CSIS. No direct sponsorship contributed to this report. The Aerospace Security Project would like to thank BlackSky, COMSPOC, ExoAnalytic Solutions, HEO Robotics, LeoLabs, Planet, and Slingshot Aerospace for their contribution of data, images, and analysis. Finally, many thanks to Audrey Schaffer, Steve Jordan Tomaszewski, Jeeah Lee, Phillip Meylan, Katherine Stark, Julia Huh, and Louis Gleason for their support in the research, review, and publication process.

CONTENTS

- 1 FOREWORD
- 2 INTRODUCTION
- 3 OVERVIEW OF COUNTERSPACE CAPABILITIES
- 7 CHINA
- 13 RUSSIA
- 16 FEATURED ANALYSIS: NORMALIZATION OF DEVIANCE
- 20 INDIA
- 23 IRAN
- 26 NORTH KOREA

28 OTHER COUNTRIES

- 27 Australia
- 28 France
- 28 Israel
- 28 Japan
- 28 South Korea
- 29 United Kingdom
- 29 Non-state Actors
- 31 FEATURED ANALYSIS: COALITIONS OF CONVENIENCE
- 35 WHAT TO WATCH
- 40 CONCLUSION
- 41 ABOUT THE AUTHORS
- 43 ENDNOTES

FOREWORD

N AN ERA MARKED BY TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANCEMENT AND global interconnectedness, space has become increasingly vital to economic prosperity and national defense worldwide. This edition of the *Space Threat Assessment* by the Aerospace Security Project at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS) provides accessible insights into the evolving global space landscape, outlining key developments and resulting threats.

Today, the United States, with its pioneering spirit and innovative capabilities, stands at the forefront of leveraging space and its limitless potential for the good of humankind. From satellite communications and navigation systems to intelligence gathering and missile defense, space assets have become ingrained in the fabric of modern life and our nation's security. This position is not assured.

While the U.S. increasingly focuses on space, foreign nations are also reaching new milestones. As the space domain becomes more congested and contested, collaboration between government agencies and private industry becomes imperative. Synergy between governmental oversight, regulatory frameworks, and private sector innovation is essential for maximizing the potential of space while mitigating risks and safeguarding national interests.

A strong and resilient aerospace and defense workforce is a vital part of this challenge. Trained professionals in government and industry underpin a thriving space sector and are essential to overcome attacks. Our people are a strategic asset and a key advantage.

Technology and innovation, especially from the private sector, are also primary strengths. We must continue to mature and integrate new technologies like artificial intelligence into space systems and find better ways for governments to take advantage of new cutting-edge capabilities. We can accelerate change by incentivizing the private sector to invest in the research and development of new technologies.

Through insightful analysis that comes at a crucial time, this report underscores the critical need for proactive cooperation between government and industry to harness the full spectrum of opportunities offered by space. By working together, we can unlock the vast potential of space exploration and utilization, drive economic growth, strengthen national security, and ensure America's continued leadership in the final frontier.

ERIC FANNING

President and CEO, Aerospace Industries Association

INTRODUCTION

ELCOME TO THE SEVENTH EDITION of the *Space Threat Assessment* by the Aerospace Security Project at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). For the last seven years, CSIS has used open-source information to produce an annual assessment of threats to U.S. national security space systems, referred to as counterspace threats, and trends in counterspace capabilities. Each report in this series catalogs yearly developments, uses, and advancements of counterspace weapons and enablers to provide policymakers and the public with accessible insights into the global space threat landscape.

Today, there are more satellites and systems in space providing services, information, and capabilities to people on Earth than ever before.¹ While many of these systems have a civilian mission and are built and run by companies instead of governments, they also support U.S. national security. As noted in past assessments, these civilian and commercial space systems face expanding threats from foreign adversaries, which increasingly include cyber and espionage threats.²

Given the criticality of services and capabilities provided by space systems to U.S. national and economic security, the authors believe that policymakers should think in terms of threats and risk as they resource and prioritize mitigation measures. In addition to threats, a risk assessment includes analysis of vulnerabilities as well as the likelihood of and impacts from undesired events.

Continuing past trends, 2023 saw foreign nations reach new milestones in space: record-setting launches, deployments of satellites, and missions to the Moon and other parts of the solar system.³ While not strictly advancing in counterspace weapons, foreign countries have shown progress in building and expanding the foundational capabilities needed to support both space and counterspace systems. China broke its national record for launches in one year and, for the third time, sent its reusable spaceplane into orbit.⁴ North Korea successfully launched a satellite into space, while Iran placed its third surveillance satellite into orbit.⁵ Over the last year, both India and Japan landed missions on the Moon.⁶ In February 2024, the world learned that Russia is developing a spacebased counterspace weapon involving nuclear technology, bringing more public awareness and policymaker attention to space security.

As in the prior two years, space-based capabilities, especially commercial space services, played a publicly visible role in conflict zones. Information from commercial remote-sensing space systems and connectivity from satellites continued to help Ukraine resist Russian aggression.⁷ Space also influenced the conflict in Israel and Gaza, with media organizations using commercial satellite imagery to share information about the conflict's impacts.⁸ These examples demonstrate the accessibility and utility of space-based services offered by U.S. companies to parties involved in conflicts, putting space business leaders in the middle of geopolitics, global security questions, and, in some cases, military conflict.

The information cut-off date for this report is March 30, 2024. For more detail on past counterspace weapons activities, please review the prior *Space Threat Assessments* (editions 2018–2023) or visit the project's interactive timeline at

https://aerospace.csis.org/counterspace-timeline/.

OVERVIEW OF COUNTERSPACE CAPABILITIES

This chapter provides an overview of different types of counterspace weapons and a useful taxonomy to classify and differentiate them. Counterspace weapons vary significantly in the technical methods used to create effects against space systems, in how they are deployed, and in the level of technology and resources needed for their development and fielding. For the purposes of this report, counterspace capabilities are organized into four main categories: kinetic weapons, non-kinetic weapons, electronic weapons, and cyber operations. This report also discusses unfriendly behaviors in space and the potential implications of such behaviors on space security. Capabilities intended to conduct espionage only are not considered weapons but are discussed in this report.

Kinetic attacks are defined here as those taken through physical, material means such as bombs, bullets, missiles, and other munitions. All kinetic attacks are considered as meant to destroy or damage. This category includes weapons that target spacecraft, such as direct-ascent (DA) anti-satellite (ASAT) missiles outfitted with conventional warheads, and projectile attacks launched from one on-orbit satellite to another. It also includes attacks using bombs, missiles, or other physical means on terrestrial space infrastructure, such as ground stations, launch sites, rocket and satellite factories, and space monitoring infrastructure. Orbital grappling satellites are another form of kinetic attack. Such a grappler physically handles a target spacecraft to do it harm or attaches itself to a spacecraft and maneuvers it to another location. In the latter case, such "kidnapping" would not destroy the target satellite, but could effectively disable it without generating any debris.

Illustration A ballistic missile can be used as a kinetic counterspace weapon.



Illustration A laser is an example of a non-kinetic counterspace weapon.

Non-kinetic attacks are defined as those that use radiated energy to destroy, damage, or interfere with space systems. This energy can be directed, such as with laser or microwave energy, or distributed through nuclear detonations or electromagnetic pulse (EMP) events. High-powered lasers and dazzlers and high-powered microwave ASAT systems are included in this category. Dazzlers are intended to temporarily blind an optical satellite, although they may also unintentionally damage targeted satellites. Nuclear detonations in near space or space are included in this category because these attacks primarily damage electronics through the resulting EMP and lingering radiation that gets trapped in orbit by Earth's magnetic field. Other non-nuclear weapons that create EMP events in space would also be included in this category.

To date, no country has used a kinetic or non-kinetic weapon to destroy or permanently disable another country's satellite, but four countries—the United States, Russia, China, and India—have successfully tested DA ASAT missiles against their own satellites.⁹ These types of attacks risk the creation of orbital debris, which can indiscriminately affect other satellites and human-crewed systems, such as the International Space Station (ISS) and China's Tiangong space station.¹⁰ Depending on altitude, orbital debris can persist for decades, if not centuries, and pose a long-term risk to the space environment. According to one industry expert, over half of all low Earth orbit (LEO) fragments today comes from just six breakup events, with more than a quarter of LEO debris fragments produced by one event: China's DA ASAT test that destroyed its Fengyun 1C weather satellite in 2007.¹¹

Electronic weapons use the electromagnetic spectrum to deny or interfere with a target's ability to use space services and capabilities. These weapons cannot destroy; they only impart temporary effects as long as the electronic system engages its target. This category includes jamming and spoofing of global navigation satellite system (GNSS) and satellite communications (SATCOM) signals. Spoofing is a form of electronic attack where an attacker tricks a receiver into believing a fake signal produced by the attacker is the real signal it is trying to receive. It can affect GNSS signals from the Global Positioning System (GPS), Galileo, BeiDou, and GLONASS systems, in addition to non-encrypted satellite downlinks.¹² Use of GNSS jamming and spoofing has become commonplace, with GNSS interference observed around the world, often by commercial airline pilots.¹³ Also included are any electronic attacks to jam space-based radar and the reception of radio frequency (RF) signals by the user of a satellite service on Earth, the satellite itself, or the ground station of a space system.

The final category, cyber operations, includes any offensive activity in cyberspace that targets space systems, including ground infrastructure, satellite terminals, spaceports, and spacecraft. Cyber operations can destroy or permanently disable a targeted system, although they can also be used to temporarily disrupt or to conduct espionage, including gaining access to proprietary or sensitive technical information on a target network. A network exploitation can be a beachhead for any of these purposes, as a cyber operation's intent is often ambiguous.¹⁴

The same ambiguity also clouds efforts to understand and accurately classify most unfriendly satellite behaviors conducted by Russian and Chinese satellites, including close approaches. It is generally difficult to neatly categorize these capabilities. For example, Russia's second Luch/Olymp satellite, launched in 2023, probably positions itself near other satellites in geostationary orbit (GEO) to conduct intelligence activities.¹⁵ But it might also be validating a concept of operations for future orbital kinetic attacks,



Illustration

Uplink and downlink jamming are two forms of

OVERVIEW OF COUNTERSPACE CAPABILITIES



Figure 1 The Long-Lasting Effects of Space Debris from Six Major Events

LEOLABS: RECREATED WITH PERMISSION

SOURCE: DARREN MCKNIGHT, "ENABLING ENDURING SPACE SAFETY BY MANAGING ORBITAL DEBRIS," LEOLABS, MARCH 2024, HTTPS://LEOLABS. SPACE/WP-CONTENT/UPLOADS/2024/03/MANAGING-ORBITAL-DEBRIS-DR-DARREN-MCKNIGHT-MARCH-2024.PDF.

or as some speculate, it may be carrying an electronic attack satellite-jamming payload.¹⁶ With limited open-source information available, it is difficult to draw a definitive conclusion.

A grappler satellite—defined in this report as a satellite that can attach itself to a target spacecraft and maneuver both into other orbits—is an example of a counterspace capability enabled by unfriendly close approaches. While a grappler satellite may not destroy its target, it could effectively disable a satellite without generating any debris.

Not every nation possesses the full breadth of counterspace capabilities described here, as the level of technological sophistication and ground and space infrastructure required for counterspace weapons dramatically varies. For example, A satellite lasing system requires high beam quality, adaptive optics (if being used through the atmosphere), and advanced pointing control to steer the laser beam precisely—all technology that is costly and sophisticated. A high-altitude nuclear detonation requires not only the capability to build a nuclear weapon but also the capability to place that weapon into the right location in space to affect targeted satellites.

On the other hand, the technology needed to jam and spoof many types of satellite signals is commercially available and inexpensive, making it relatively easy to proliferate among state and non-state actors.¹⁷ The same is true for cyber operations. Like jamming and spoofing, there is a low barrier to entry for the acquisition and use of cyber capabilities to target space systems. A nation's proficiency in cyber operations does not necessarily relate to its space capabilities, as a country without space launch capabilities may have mature offensive cyber capabilities.



Illustration

Cyberattacks can be used to take control of a satellite and damage or destroy it.

Table 1 TYPES OF COUNTERSPACE CAPABILITIES

	Kinetic Weapons			Non-kineti	ic Weapons	Electronic Weapons		Cyber Operations
	Terrestrial Infrastructure Attack	Direct-Ascent ASAT	Orbital ASAT	Nuclear Detonations	Directed Energy	Jamming	Spoofing	
Origin to Destination	Ground-to- Ground	Ground-to- Space	Space-to-Space	Ground- to-Ground; Ground-to- Space; Space- to-Space	Ground- to-Ground; Ground-to- Space; Space- to-Space	Ground- to-Ground; Ground-to- Space; Space- to-Space	Ground- to-Ground; Ground-to- Space; Space- to-Space	N/A
Permanence of Attack	Permanent	Permanent	Permanent	Permanent	Varies, dependent on mode of attack	Not Permanent	Not Permanent	Varies, dependent on mode of attack
Scale of Attack Effects	Widespread, if node sup- ports multiple satellites	Widespread, if orbital debris creation	Limited to Widespread, dependent on mode of attack	Widespread	Limited and Regional, dependent on mode of attack	Limited and Regional, dependent on mode of attack	Limited and Regional, dependent on mode of attack	Limited to Wide- spread, dependent on mode of attack
Attributability of Attack	Variable attribu- tion, depending on mode of attack	Launch site can be attributed	Can be attribut- ed by tracking previously known orbit	Launch site can be attributed	Limited attri- bution	Modest attribu- tion depending on mode of attack	Modest attribu- tion depending on mode of attack	Limited or uncertain attri- bution
Requires Space Launch Capability	No	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	No	No
Requires Space Domain Awareness	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No

CSIS AEROSPACE SECURITY PROJECT RESEARCH AND ANALYSIS

CHINA

CHINA

President Xi Jinping has said that to "develop the space industry and build China into a space power is our eternal dream."¹⁸ Over the last decade, China has solidified itself as a space power, maintaining its status as the second-most-capable space nation after the United States. Beijing relies on a suite of growing space and counterspace capabilities to support national goals, including using space as an extension of its soft-power Belt and Road Initiative to strengthen its economic and diplomatic ties with other countries.¹⁹ On the diplomatic front, China is working with Russia to create an international coalition oriented around lunar missions, a direct competitor to the U.S.-led Artemis program, while also pursuing strategic space cooperation with African, Latin American, and Asian countries.²⁰

For China's space program, 2023 was another record-setting year. It conducted 67 space launches, resulting in over 200 satellites successfully placed into orbit and one launch failure.²¹ China's counterspace activities in 2023 appear largely to be an extension of activities conducted in previous years, including the launch of another spaceplane, operation of GEO-based satellites that conduct rendezvous and proximity operations, and use of electronic jamming and cyber operations against ground networks. As space and counterspace capabilities play an essential role in China's national security strategy, China will likely continue to emphasize the modernization and development of its space technologies in the coming years.²²

CHINA'S COUNTERSPACE ACTIVITIES IN 2023 APPEAR LARGELY TO BE AN EXTENSION OF ACTIVITIES CONDUCTED IN PREVIOUS YEARS.

China's growing commercial space sector also achieved new milestones in 2023. This sector may be viewed as a way to foster innovation in an ecosystem dominated by the government and state-owned enterprises (SOEs), despite many of these private entities being SOE subsidiaries or spin-offs. According to a 2023 U.S. space investment report, China is second to the United States in terms of the amount of private capital channeled to space companies.²³

SPACE POLICY, DOCTRINE, AND ORGANIZATIONS

Beijing's space ambitions align with its overall national strategic interests. Space capabilities are seen as key to a modern military and modern warfare, advancing economic and diplomatic interests globally, and elevating the national prestige of China and the Chinese Communist Party (CCP). In seeking the mantle of global space leadership, Beijing designated aerospace a top priority in its Made in China 2025 strategic initiative, aimed at achieving technological breakthroughs and boosting its innovation base, and has allocated large state and private investments to the expansion of its space sector.²⁴ Beijing is pursuing a broad range of space exploration and human spaceflight activities, as outlined in its 2022 five-year plan, "China's Space Program: A 2021 Perspective." It plans to upgrade and expand its space launch vehicle (SLV) capabilities; expand its space station, Tiangong, which became fully operational in 2022; research key technologies for exploring and developing cislunar space, including establishing a human presence on the Moon; and pursue more robotic exploration of deep space, including Mars.²⁵

Similar to the United States, Chinese military leaders aim to secure the full use of space for China, while at the same time preventing adversaries from using their own space capabilities.²⁶ Chinese military theory stresses the importance of joint operations, emphasizing the key role that space capabilities, information warfare, and networked systems play in modern combat operations.²⁷ At the same time, investments in counterspace weapons would allow the People's Liberation Army (PLA) to hold at risk their adversaries' space assets, especially those that would enable command, control, communications, and intelligence in the region.²⁸

Separate organizations are responsible for military and civil space activities. Established in 2015, the PLA Strategic Support Force (PLASSF) centralizes the development, operations, and integration of space, cyber, and electronic warfare capabilities. This includes development and management of SLVs and government launch sites; intelligence, surveillance, and reconnaissance (ISR) satellites; navigation and communication satellites; satellite control centers; and cyberspace operations, electronic warfare, and many counterspace capabilities.²⁹ The China National Space Administration (CNSA) is responsible for civil space activities and international space cooperation, while the China Manned Space Agency (CMSA) manages China's human spaceflight program, which includes the Tiangong space station and Shenzhou crewed spacecraft.³⁰ Notably, the CNSA works closely with the PLA, while the CMSA falls under an equipment development division within the Central Military Commission.³¹

Although these organizations maintain separate priorities, the same SOEs produce much of the technology for both. Further, Beijing's military-civilian fusion policy blurs the line between civil and commercial activities and military endeavors, encouraging the acquisition of cutting-edge technologies, including space technologies, to achieve both economic and military dominance.³²

CHINA

SPACE CAPABILITIES

China maintains an extensive suite of space capabilities, including space launch with its family of Long March rockets, GNSS through its Beidou system, satellite communications, ISR, missile warning, and space situational awareness (SSA).

In space launch, 2023 was a breakthrough year, especially for commercial SLV providers. Enabled by a 2014 government policy change that opened select space sectors to private investment, seven Chinese commercial companies-including some subsidiaries or spinoffs from Chinese SOEs-conducted space launches in 2023 and early 2024. April 2023 saw China's first successful satellite launch by a private company using a liquid propellant rocket, built by Beijing Tianbing Technology (also called Space Pioneer).³³ In July 2023, a private Chinese company, LandSpace, launched the world's first methane-liquid oxygen SLV, technology that promises to enhance rocket performance, and in January 2024, space start-up iSpace tested a reusable SLV.³⁴ Also in January 2024, start-up Orienspace launched its new Gravity-1 rocket from a sea-based platform, successfully delivering three satellites to LEO and making it the most powerful launch vehicle developed by China's private space sector.³⁵ Additionally, component-level testing continued in 2023 by a Chinese SOE developing the Long March 9, a super heavy-lift reusable rocket rivaling SpaceX's Starship that could enable China's deep space exploration plans.³⁶

Beijing is also expanding its space launch sites to accommodate this commercial growth. The December 2023 opening of a commercial spaceport on the island of Hainan will increase China's ability to support more commercial launches, which are often deprioritized at the four main government launch sites.³⁷

Another significant development in 2023 is China's growing space-based remote-sensing capabilities and their implications for the PLA's ability to track forces and assets across the Indo-Pacific. Over 400 satellites have been launched by China over the last two years, over



In 2019, China's first commercial rocket placed satellites into orbit.

PHOTO BY STR/GETTY IMAGES

half of which are remote-sensing satellites.³⁸ Further, according to U.S. Space Command, as of January 2024, China had approximately 360 ISR satellites on orbit, more than triple the number in 2018.³⁹ Notably, in August 2023, Beijing launched the world's first GEO-based synthetic-aperture radar (SAR) satellite, Ludi Tance-4, and in December 2023, it launched an optical imagery satellite to GEO, Yaogan-41. Some analysts estimate resolutions of 20 meters for Ludi Tance-4 and possibly 2.5 meters for Yaogan-41.⁴⁰ When paired with other Chinese ISR satellites, artificial intelligence to quickly identify objects, and networked communications systems, the PLA could possess near-real-time situational awareness of the vast Indo-Pacific theater.

China is also courting foreign customers for its remote-sensing capabilities. In early 2023, the United States sanctioned Chinese companies Spacety and China HEAD Aerospace for providing imagery of Ukraine to Russia's Wagner Group.⁴¹ Though China has espoused neutrality in the Ukrainian conflict, this arrangement is an example of a Chinese entity providing direct support to Russian combat operations in Ukraine.⁴²

 ${\it Last year also witnessed progress by Chinese}$

SOEs in the mass production and deployment of large satellite constellations in LEO. In November 2023, China is believed to have launched its first batch of satellites to test internet connectivity from space as part of a planned 13,000-satellite national LEO broadband constellation, GuoWang. Another 12,000-satellite constellation, G60 Starlink, saw its first satellites roll off the production line in December 2023. Deployments of both constellations are anticipated to start in 2024 and will provide broadband internet services akin to Starlink once operational.⁴³

China maintains significant global SSA capabilities, which are required to maintain constant connectivity with its assets for basic on-orbit safety and collision avoidance, as well as to target satellites and employ counterspace weapons effectively. These capabilities include a fleet of ships equipped with radar tracking antennae, ground stations for satellite telemetry and tracking in China and more than a dozen other countries, and advanced communications equipment that assists in tracking SLV and intercontinental ballistic missile (ICBM) launches and satellites.⁴⁴

In 2023, a U.S. research institute reported that the PLASSF had established a new base focused on military SSA, called Base 37. This development suggests improvements to the PLA's ability to integrate data from groundand space-based sensors, and units at this base will likely improve the PLA's ability to identify, track, and analyze foreign space

Rendezvous and Proximity Operations

Previous iterations of CSIS's *Space Threat Assessment* have reported on unusual rendezvous and proximity operations (RPOs) by Chinese satellites in GEO, last year highlighting the Shijian-21 (SJ-21) satellite, an experimental space debris mitigation satellite that latched onto and rapidly moved a defunct GNSS satellite.⁴⁷ SJ-23, believed to be another experimental satellite, was launched into GEO in January 2023. It was reported to have released an object, later identified as an apogee kick motor, which is typically used to help move a satellite into GEO before being jettisoned.⁴⁸

Over the course of 2023 and into early 2024, SJ-23 and other Chinese spacecraft exhibited unusual behaviors in GEO, particularly in proximity to certain U.S. government and commercial satellites. For example, over several weeks in February 2023, SJ-23 and a U.S. Geosynchronous Space Situational Awareness Program (GSSAP) satellite appeared to move westward in GEO coincident with each other, covering about 100 degrees in longitude.⁴⁹ Elsewhere, in late 2023, a pair of Chinese satellites—Shiyan (SY) 12-01 and 12-02—appeared to move in synchronized yet opposite directions, apparently similar to maneuvers they did in 2022 after being approached by a U.S. government satellite.⁵⁰

Such capabilities, with demonstrations of greater proficiency in RPOs and docking, can contribute to space sustainability through orbital debris removal, but they can also serve as intelligence collectors and latent counterspace weapons. These RPOs continue to enable China to mature operational concepts and technical skills necessary for orbital ASAT weapons. objects and ballistic missile launches.45

The PLA also appears to be conducting training regarding how to evade collection by other countries' ISR satellites. Various reports from 2022 to 2024 in the *PLA Daily*, the official newspaper of the PLA, describe various branches of the PLA—including the army, air force, and rocket forces—conducting drills to "retract equipment and quickly maneuver" and "maintain radio silence" when "enemy' satellites are conducting reconnaissance."⁴⁶ There appears to be a clear appreciation across the PLA that their adversaries will use space-based ISR assets to monitor and target their forces and activities.

COUNTERSPACE ASSESSMENT

China has demonstrated nearly every counterspace capability covered in this report, having fielded jamming and directed energy systems, demonstrated DA ASAT capabilities, and tested technologies relevant to on-orbit counterspace weapons systems. Additionally, China can conduct sophisticated cyber operations that target space and other important infrastructure.⁵⁵ According to the U.S. Department of Defense, Beijing views counterspace systems as a way to deter and counter foreign intervention in a regional conflict.⁵⁶

Electronic Weapons

The PLA maintains a range of both fixed and mobile electronic warfare systems that can interfere with satellite communications links, GNSS signals, and SAR intelligence-gathering satellites.

China was likely responsible for GPS interference in the Indo-Pacific region noted by commercial pilots last year. In March 2023, Australian airline group Qantas and the International Federation of Air Line Pilots' Associations issued warnings to pilots about Chinese warships engaged in radio signal and GPS jamming over the South China Sea, Philippine Sea, eastern Indian Ocean, and northwest of Australia.⁵⁷ GPS spoofing has also affected maritime transportation in recent years, with research from 2019 showing hundreds of ships affected by GPS spoofing near Shanghai, although responsibility for such spoofing remains uncertain.⁵⁸

As the Qantas case in 2023 shows, the employment of such jamming and spoofing capabilities in peacetime has had effects well beyond the military sphere, risking harm to civil and commercial transportation and public safety.



Image of a Qantas commercial airliner. **PHOTO BY PHIL WALTER/GETTY IMAGES**

Spaceplane

Last year's assessment described the launch of two different Chinese reusable spaceplanes in 2022: an orbital version, named Shenlong, and a suborbital version that immediately returned to Earth. The Shenlong spaceplane, conducting its second orbital mission, remained in LEO from August 2022 through May 2023 (276 days).⁵¹ U.S. commercial firm LeoLabs observed Shenlong release an object into orbit and perform multiple maneuvers with it, including formation flying, docking, and recapture operations.⁵²

On December 14, 2023, China launched the Shenlong spaceplane on a Long March 2F into LEO for a third mission. Coincidentally, this occurred just days after a planned launch of a similar U.S. spaceplane, the U.S. Air Force X-37, although it ended up launching on December 28, 2023.⁵³ At the time of publication, Shenlong remains in orbit and shrouded in secrecy, but does not appear to have conducted unusual activity.⁵⁴

There are no indications that China's spaceplanes would act as counterspace weapons. However, Beijing's growing proficiency in complex RPOs, object releases, docking, and capture operations between spacecraft showcases the fundamentals necessary for an orbital ASAT capability.

Cyber Operations

As discussed in past iterations of this report, China has been implicated or suspected in several cyberattacks against foreign satellite networks, including U.S. National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) remote-sensing and weather satellites and an Indian satellite communications network.⁵⁹ China also seeks to burrow into government and defense contractor networks to conduct espionage, steal data and technology, and implant damaging malware.⁶⁰ These trends led the U.S. intelligence community in August 2023 to issue a bulletin warning the U.S. space industry of cyber targeting, among other threats to space companies' intellectual property.61

A notable Chinese cyber operation uncovered in 2023 was Volt Typhoon, a campaign that targeted critical infrastructure in Guam and elsewhere in the United States. Microsoft, which unveiled the cyber campaign, assessed that it is part of China's efforts to be able to disrupt critical communications infrastructure between the United States and Asia.⁶² Targeted sectors included transportation such as ports and rail, utilities, and telecommunications infrastructure, with satellite communications systems specifically mentioned by Microsoft.⁶³

Non-kinetic Weapons

According to the U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency, "China has multiple ground-based laser weapons of varying power levels" that can temporarily blind optical sensors or degrade and damage satellites.⁶⁴ In May 2023, a U.S. company operating imagery satellites observed laser infrastructure at the Korla test site in western China, capturing a pattern of activity that appears consistent with a laser ASAT capability.⁶⁵ The PLA is also believed to have fielded ground-based mobile laser weapons and is conducting research and development (R&D) on mobile high-powered microwave (HPM) weapons, but it is unclear whether the latter have counterspace applications, according to a U.S. researcher.66

As the United States and others deploy proliferated satellite constellations as a means to build greater resiliency against space threats, the authors anticipate that China will seek ways to hold those proliferated architectures at risk because of the advantages they provide, or the threat Beijing believes they pose. In a January 2024 commentary, an author affiliated with the PLA Academy of Military Sciences assessed that SpaceX's Starlink has "a clear military focus," can "carry weapon payloads for space strike missions," and "threatens space security."67 One such way to counter proliferated constellations is through high-altitude nuclear detonations (HAND), the effects of which have been researched by a PLA-affiliated institute, as noted in last year's assessment.68 While this remains a worrisome development, the authors did not identify further Chinese HAND or space-based nuclear weapons research in the past year.

Kinetic Weapons

While China possesses ground-based DA ASAT missile systems, it has abstained from further destructive testing of those systems against satellites since its 2007 intercept of a defunct Chinese weather satellite in LEO. However, Beijing is believed to have continued development and non-destructive testing of a range of DA ASAT weapons that can reach higher orbits, including in GEO.⁶⁹



Korla test site with possible laser facilities (right side).

BLACKSKY: REPRINTED WITH PERMISSION

RUSSIA

Russia has had both successes and failures in space over the past year. A Russian attempt to land on the Moon failed in August 2023, with Luna-25 crashing into the lunar surface.⁷⁰ Three Russian spacecraft supporting the ISS suffered coolant leaks in the last year.⁷¹ However, Russia successfully launched several civilian and military satellites.⁷² Additionally, Russia picked up new foreign launch customers, including the United Arab Emirates (UAE) and Malaysia, despite U.S. and European sanctions.⁷³ Arguably, the biggest revelation since the last report involves allegations that Russia is developing a nuclear-capable ASAT weapon that the United States says would violate the 1967 Outer Space Treaty.⁷⁴

While Russian officials have outlined an ambitious space agenda, sanctions continue to block access to Western technology critical to Russia's ability to build modern satellites. In these circumstances, Russia will have a difficult time executing its vision. The bedrock of Russian strength in space, including its counterspace capabilities, is Soviet-era technology and infrastructure. It remains to be seen how long it can lean on what are foundationally 1980s systems and designs to keep up in space.⁷⁵

SPACE POLICY, DOCTRINE, AND ORGANIZATION

Space plays a critical role in Russian military thinking, which has long emphasized a concept designed to counter U.S. air power called "strategic aerospace operations."⁷⁶ Degrading U.S. space capabilities is an important element of this strategy, as Russia understands the importance the United States places on space capabilities to enable air and missile strikes as well as joint operations.⁷⁷ A focus on space and counterspace operations also fits within Russia's active defense framework, which is about impairing an adversary's ability to bring its full force to bear and limiting the length of any hostilities. Russia would likely seek to degrade or destroy an adversary's space capabilities at the start of a conflict, even before military hostilities begin.78

Public rhetoric over the past year also provides insight into Russia's military thinking regarding space and counterspace responses, particularly how it might attempt to degrade commercial space capabilities. In October 2023, Russia warned that Western "quasi-civilian" satellites could be legitimate targets.⁷⁹ Russia did not mention specific space systems, although they were probably referring to U.S. satellite communications and remote-sensing providers. In September 2022, a Russian official taking part in a UN working group on space made a similar threat, warning that Russia could retaliate against Starlink for its role in Ukraine.⁸⁰

Roscosmos, a state corporation, is the Russian space agency responsible for human and uncrewed space programs and aerospace research activities.⁸¹ Russian military space activities are led by the Russian Space Forces, one of three branches of the Russian Aerospace Forces, which itself is one of three arms of the Armed Forces of the Russian Federation. The Russian Space Forces, established in 2015, is responsible for missile warning, ballistic missile defense, and military spacecraft and satellites, including the GLONASS global navigation system.⁸²

THE BEDROCK OF RUSSIAN STRENGTH IN SPACE, INCLUDING ITS COUNTERSPACE CAPABILITIES, IS SOVIET-ERA TECHNOLOGY AND INFRASTRUCTURE.

SPACE CAPABILITIES

Since the dissolution of the Soviet Union, Russia has developed only one new launcher, the Angara rocket, whose maiden launch was in 2014. First designed in 1966, the Soyuz rocket has flown more missions than any other rocket in the world. Russia had 20 space launches in 2023, similar to the totals for 2021 and 2022.83 Russia depends on imported Western technology and components to build satellites, and these components have become harder to obtain due to sanctions.⁸⁴ Russia's ability to manufacture communications satellites has effectively ground to a halt since the imposition of sanctions in 2022.⁸⁵ Russia satellite manufacturing processes are slow and labor intensive, with the head of Roscosmos admitting it takes 18 months to build one satellite.⁸⁶ By contrast, SpaceX alone is producing six satellites per day.87

Yet despite these shortcomings, Russia today remains a force to be reckoned with in space, particularly in counterspace and space launch capabilities. Throughout 2023, Russia continued launching people and supplies to the ISS. While Russia lost foreign launch contracts in 2022, there was renewed interest from foreign customers, including for satellites with Western ties, specifically the United Kingdom and Luxembourg, by late 2023.⁸⁸ Russia deployed several notable military surveillance satellites in 2023. Russia launched its second Luch/Olymp inspector satellite in March 2023.⁸⁹ In December 2023, Russia launched two remote-sensing military satellites and the second of two weather satellites, Arktika, designed primarily for monitoring the Arctic and demonstrating Russia interest in the Arctic region.⁹⁰

Although the Roscosmos annual budget will hover between \$2.6 billion and \$2.8 billion over the next three years, a tenth of the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) annual budget, Russia outlined an ambitious space agenda in October 2023.⁹¹ It articulated plans for a new space station, a nuclear space tug, and two new launch vehicles, the Amur-LNG and Korona. Publicly, Russia has also committed to building a constellation of 264 satellites that would provide broadband access.⁹² Additionally, Russia announced plans to land cosmonauts on the Moon by 2040.⁹³

Many of these proposals, such as the new space station and Amur rocket, are not new and have been stalled for years due to lack of funding.⁹⁴ But Russia has demonstrated a willingness to make significant investments in space. Other than the Crimea Bridge, the construction of Russia's third launch site, the Vostochny Cosmodrome, was Russia's largest infrastructure project in the last 20 years.⁹⁵ Russia also brought online a new radar-based SSA system, Razvyazka, in the middle of 2023.96 The Razvyazka system, located near Moscow, will be used to catalog space objects, replacing a long-range radar station that was in operation from 1978 into the 2000s. In July 2023, Russia inaugurated a new optical-electronic monitoring station in South Africa for tracking space objects, potentially paving the way for future Russian-South African space cooperation, according to the head of Roscosmos.97

RUSSIA

COUNTERSPACE ASSESSMENT

In February 2024, the U.S. government confirmed that Russia is developing a new ASAT capability. According to a U.S. White House spokesman, the capability is not deployed and poses no immediate threat. It can neither attack humans nor cause physical destruction on Earth, but it would violate the Outer Space Treaty of 1967.⁹⁸ Some theorize that Russia is considering a nuclear weapon in space, while others suggest that Russia is developing a nuclear-powered electronic warfare satellite. U.S. officials have been concerned enough about the threat to approach China and India, asking for help to convince Russia to halt this work.99 Such a weapon, in either case, would be an effective way to threaten large numbers of satellites—such as proliferated satellite constellations-which the United States and others are deploying as a means to build greater resiliency against space threats. In addition to developing new ASAT capabilities, Russia maintains DA ASAT systems, last testing such a system in 2021.

As noted earlier, Russia launched a second Luch/Olymp inspector satellite in March 2023, which, like the original Luch/Olymp satellite, is making stops near Western satellites in GEO.¹⁰⁰ Since launch, the second Luch/ Olymp has parked near a U.S. Wideband Global SATCOM satellite and Eutelsat satellites. The first Luch/Olymp remained near Western commercial communications satellites for most of the last year.¹⁰¹

Past reports have chronicled concerning counterspace announcements and developments, such as the Peresvet ASAT laser dazzling weapon, which has yet to prove its worth in combat.¹⁰² There are also reports that Russia has repeatedly tried and failed to effectively jam and prevent users in Ukraine from accessing Starlink.¹⁰³ In April 2022, a U.S. defense official described how Starlink was able to upgrade its terminals to fend off jamming attempts at the start of the conflict.¹⁰⁴ Russia has also been blamed for GPS interference reported in Poland, Scandinavia, and the Baltic States and continues to interfere with GPS reception in Ukraine.¹⁰⁵

In November 2023, the European Space Agency's Sentinel-1 SAR satellite experienced interference while imaging Sevastapol, Ukraine.¹⁰⁶ Sentinel-1 experienced similar interferences in July 2021 while imaging the Rostov region in Russia.¹⁰⁷ Unlike other SAR satellites, which mostly use X-band frequencies, Sentinel-1 uses the C-band, which is also used for other purposes, such as communications, radar, and weather applications. Rather than indicative of a counterspace attack on an SAR satellite, some experts speculate that the observed interference could be attributed to powerful electronic warfare systems used by Russia to disrupt drones.¹⁰⁸

During the past year, Russian satellites have conducted unfriendly behaviors in space, although it is difficult to say conclusively whether these activities were meant to support or test orbital ASAT weapons or merely to conduct espionage-or to do both. In November 2023, the Russian satellite Cosmos 2570 released a daughter satellite that then released its own daughter satellite. All three satellites then performed close approach activities around each other.¹⁰⁹ The same month, a presumed-defunct Russian remote-sensing satellite, Resurs-P3, came to life and approached another Russian satellite, Cosmos 2562, for an unknown purpose.¹¹⁰ This activity suggests a need to reassess satellites that are no longer operational, as they may be acting as sleeper cells in space.

Russian satellites with a record of unfriendly behaviors can pose hazards even after the end of their missions. Between 2013 and 2014, two Russian satellites, Cosmos 2491 and Cosmos 2499, were observed conducting very close approaches with other Russian satellites, possibly testing orbital weapons technologies.¹¹¹ Although observers concluded that their missions probably ended around 2017, Cosmos 2491 made news in 2020 when its propulsion tank unexpectedly exploded.¹¹² In 2023, Cosmos 2499 also suddenly exploded, with observers speculating that the explosion was caused by the same propulsion tank issue that affected its sister satellite.¹¹³ The explosion created a cloud of debris that will likely remain in orbit for decades, if not centuries.114

With these Luch/Olymp and Cosmos satellites, Russia could be testing and validating tactics, capabilities, and operational procedures that it could use to enable future orbital counterspace weapons. Russia is probably assessing what kinds of space activities and operations it can conduct without risking a response by or escalation with the United States. Russia is also likely searching for and learning how to exploit its adversaries' weaknesses in space, assembling its operational plans for how it would use its full arsenal of counterspace tools in any direct conflict with the United States.

FEATURED ANALYSIS NORMALIZATION OF DEVIANCE

OINED BY AMERICAN SOCIOLOGIST DIANE VAUGHN IN HER analysis of the Space Shuttle Challenger disaster, normalization of deviance refers to an environment in which people grow accustomed to and tolerant of what had previously been considered unacceptable behavior.¹¹⁵ In the case of the Space Shuttle Challenger, Vaughan concluded that unsafe practices, which individually did not lead to immediate disaster, became acceptable and commonplace, increasing risks and eventually leading to catastrophe.

In each edition of this assessment, the authors have documented the use of counterspace weapons meant to destroy or disrupt access to space-based capabilities. A pattern has emerged that suggests the normalization of certain counterspace activities that had heretofore been uncommon. While the use and testing of weapons that could generate space debris remains rare, cyberattacks, jamming and spoofing activities, and unfriendly behaviors in space have now become commonplace and rarely trigger an escalatory or retaliatory response. These activities have become normalized.

CYBER OPERATIONS

Discoveries of nation-state cyber exploitations targeting U.S. and allied networks have become routine.¹¹⁶ The U.S. government regularly condemns malicious nation-state cyber activities and often imposes economic sanctions on the attacking nation. There is little evidence to show that this approach deters future cyberattacks, as cyber operations targeting U.S. national security or commercial interests have continued. Although destructive cyberattacks decreased in 2023, cyber espionage operations increased.¹¹⁷ While Russia's cyber focus continues to remain on Ukraine, China is targeting the U.S. defense industrial base and critical infrastructure and nations around the South China Sea. Meanwhile, Iranian and North Korean cyber operators are developing more sophisticated attacks and techniques.¹¹⁸

This past year pointed to new and increased attention by cyber threat actors on space systems and technologies, as well as the companies responsible for their development and operations. In August 2023, the U.S. National Counterintelligence and Security Center issued public guidance warning of the cyber threats to U.S. space systems.¹¹⁹ That same month, Viasat and U.S. National Security Agency leaders publicly discussed an analysis that concluded that Russian hackers only needed 45 minutes to deploy malware that took 45,000 satellite modems offline before the start of Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022.120 In June 2023, a nonstate organization claiming an affiliation with the Wagner Group hacked a Russian teleport, disrupting satellite communications to Russian government users.¹²¹ In June 2018, a hacking group with ties to China was found to have compromised the computers of an undisclosed satellite operator that were used to monitor and control satellites.¹²²

Although some cyber operations likely aim to disable a space capability, others are intended for intelligence collection or economic espionage. From 2021 to 2023, a cyber threat actor attributed to

A PATTERN HAS EMERGED THAT SUGGESTS THE NORMALIZATION OF CERTAIN COUNTERSPACE ACTIVITIES THAT HAD HERETOFORE BEEN UNCOMMON.

China focused on aerospace and R&D organizations, among other targets, throughout North America, Asia, and Europe.¹²³ Interestingly, U.S. and allied space interests are not the only targets. In March 2023, North Korean cyber threat actors conducted operations aimed at collecting information from a Russian aerospace research institute.¹²⁴

Other than for espionage aimed at acquiring information on space and aerospace technologies, cyber threat actors are probably targeting space systems not because they have a specific interest in space, but because space capabilities support critical national capabilities, such as telecommunications. Attacks on space systems fit within the context of increased interest, particularly by China, in finding ways to disrupt critical U.S. and allied infrastructure.¹²⁵

Discovered in March 2023, malicious cyber activity tied to a Chinese threat actor, called Volt Typhoon, targeted U.S. critical infrastructure in Guam and other parts of the United States. While Volt Typhoon had previously focused on intelligence-gathering operations, experts concluded that in this instance hackers were looking for ways to disrupt communications infrastructure, including satellite communications, between the United States and Asia during a conflict with China.¹²⁶

UNFRIENDLY BEHAVIORS IN SPACE

It is admittedly difficult to define unfriendly behaviors in space when there are not generally recognized best practices for normal space behaviors. However, uncoordinated intentional close approach operations between satellites from two or more nations are included in this report's definition of unfriendly behaviors. Close approach operations between satellites from the same nation may also be considered unfriendly if those operations suggest the development of technologies or procedures that could be used for orbital weapons systems. Some unfriendly behaviors combine both of these characteristics, including close approaches between satellites from two nations and testing of systems that could enable a future orbital weapon.

While it is difficult to fully ascertain the purpose of a Chinese or Russian military satellite, especially using open-source information alone, some satellites exhibiting unfriendly behaviors are probably conducting espionage. Certain Russian and Chinese satellites that routinely exhibit these behaviors in LEO and GEO, often referred to as inspector satellites, are probably collecting RF, optical, and thermal data of other satellites. The two Russian Luch/Olymp satellites in GEOthe first launched in 2014 and the second in 2023-routinely maneuver near Western government and commercial communications satellites and remain there for extended periods. The Chinese satellites Shiyan-12-01 and Shiyan-12-02, launched in 2021, appear to have inspected U.S. government satellites in GEO, probably performing satellite characterization activities. Satellites can perform multiple roles, however, and satellites that appear to conduct espionage could also carry orbital weapons.

In past years, this report has documented unfriendly behaviors of several satellites in Russia's Cosmos series that might indicate development of orbital ASAT projectile weapons. In 2017, Cosmos 2521 released a subsatellite, Cosmos 2523, at a high velocity, possibly testing an orbital projectile weapon.¹²⁷ Launched in 2019, Cosmos 2542 potentially performed similar projectile weapons testing, launching an object with a relative velocity of between 140 and 186 meters per second.¹²⁸ In addition to the presumed weapons

NORMALIZATION OF DEVIANCE

test, Cosmos 2542 also released a satellite, Cosmos 2543, in 2019.¹²⁹ Both Cosmos 2543 and Cosmos 2558, launched in 2022, have a history of shadowing U.S. satellites.¹³⁰

This and other assessments have also chronicled the behaviors of China's SJ-17 and SJ-21 satellites, which have both conducted frequent unusual maneuvers in GEO.¹³¹ Specifically, SJ-21 demonstrated the ability to grapple and move a defunct Chinese satellite from GEO to a graveyard orbit, potentially testing techniques and technologies for a grappler ASAT weapon.

All of these unfriendly behaviors in space have become commonplace. Both Russia and China routinely maneuver their satellites near Western government and commercial satellites, sometimes remaining close by for months at a time. Since the United States, Russia, and China do not usually share details about the capabilities of sensitive government satellites, most public assessments rely primarily on satellite position information derived from SSA data sources, which is not enough to conduct a full threat assessment. Information about satellite capabilities and observations about behaviors should be assessed together with other data, such as the timing of suspicious maneuvers.

The authors of this report, therefore, have an incomplete picture, but several trends are clear and should be summarized. China and Russia are both operating satellites that attempt to better understand high-value U.S. government satellites. Russia is operating at least two satellites Russia is operating at least two satellites in GEO that probably have an espionage mission but may also perform other functions. Several Russian satellites over the last 10 years have probably tested orbital projectile weapons for use in LEO. China has tested technologies and procedures for using grappler satellites in GEO. These developments are concerning and will likely continue in the coming years.



Figure 2: Cosmos 2558 HEO ROBOTICS: REPRINTED WITH PERMISSION

Table 3 LUCH/OLYMP AND LUCH/OLYMP 2 ACTIVITIES

Luch/Olymp and Luch/Olymp 2 close approaches with each satellite approached represented by a three letter national abbreviation of the satellite's country of origin.

2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023
FRA	FRA	FRA	FRA	TUR	FRA	FRA	FRA	GBR	GBR
GBR	GBR	USA	FRA	TUR	LUX	FRA	GBR	USA	USA
UAE	GBR	CHN	FRA	NIG	USA	FRA	LUX	USA	USA
	UAE		FRA	FRA	USA	FRA	AZE	USA	MUS
	USA		CHN	FRA	USA	FRA	UAE	USA	FRA
	USA		USA	IND	USA	NOR	USA	USA	
			PAK	IND	USA	NOR	USA		
				LUX	USA	NOR			
				USA	USA	USA			
						UAE			

NOTE: THREE CLOSE APPROACHES IN 2023 NOTED IN BOLD ARE LUCH/OLYMP 2 WHILE THE OTHER NOTED HERE ARE LUCH/OLYMP.

SOURCE: SLINGSHOT AEROSPACE, HTTPS://WWW.SLINGSHOTAEROSPACE.COM/.

JAMMING AND SPOOFING

Efforts to interfere with GNSS around the world have become ubiquitous, with many regions experiencing the effects of GNSS jamming and spoofing. GNSS interference has proliferated, particularly due to the ease with which GNSS jammers, albeit small ones, can be purchased on the internet.¹³² Interference with GNSS signals has been regularly observed across the South China Sea; in the Middle East, including in Iraq, Syria, and Armenia; and across the Eastern Mediterranean, in Lebanon, Cyprus, Turkey, and Israel. Countries in Europe, including Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, and Romania, also experience occasional GNSS interference.¹³³

Jamming and spoofing activities seek to deny GNSS access within a certain area on Earth rather than aiming to disable a whole constellation or any space-based component of the system. However, these jamming and spoofing efforts can put at risk public safety, causing collateral damage and impacting civilian and commercial activities in the vicinity of conflict zones.¹³⁴ Once such example from September 2023 involved a private aircraft crew reporting that they almost strayed into Iranian airspace—where Iranian units have reportedly issued threats to shoot down aircraft without a clearance—due to GPS spoofing.¹³⁵ The activities violate international spectrum rules, as the UN International Telecommunications Union specifically prohibits any transmission of false or misleading signals.¹³⁶

Other than condemnation and harsh words, there have been no retaliatory responses by the United States or any other nation to GNSS jamming or spoofing to date. As evidence that jamming and spoofing is becoming a normal part of military operations, Israel even publicly acknowledged its efforts to interfere with GNSS at the start of its campaign in Gaza.¹³⁷ That the United States itself has been accused of causing interference to the reception of GPS signals might complicate the U.S. response calculus.¹³⁸ Further complicating U.S. decisionmaking on how to respond to GNSS jamming is the fact that most observed instances of jamming and spoofing occur outside of U.S. territory and target non-U.S. users of space. INDIA

INDIA

India continues to expand its space activities, taking a historic leap forward this past year by landing its Chandrayaan-3 robotic vehicle on the Moon's surface in August 2023.¹³⁹ While significantly behind the United States and China in the number of rockets launched in 2023, India had more launches than Europe and Japan combined.¹⁴⁰ Over the next few years, India plans to become the fourth nation capable of sending astronauts into space. India is also strengthening its international space cooperation, signing the U.S.-led Artemis Accords in June 2023 and partnering with Japan on another lunar mission.¹⁴¹ India is also placing greater emphasis on using its growing space capabilities for military purposes.¹⁴²

SPACE POLICY, DOCTRINE, AND ORGANIZATION

Although India has never articulated a formal military space doctrine, the Indian military has begun to emphasize space power for Indian national security.¹⁴³ In 2017, the Indian military service chiefs released an updated joint doctrine for the Indian Armed Forces, which noted that the "emergence of space power is analogous to conventional land, sea, or air power that will mark it out as a 'Revolution in Military Affairs'."144 According to India's most senior military officer, India needs to develop more indigenous ISR satellites with optical and hyperspectral sensors, its own global positioning, navigation, and timing constellation, and new counterspace capabilities, which would be used for deterrence and to protect Indian space systems.145 To meet these goals, India has plans to launch and operate over 100 military satellites in the next seven to eight years.¹⁴⁶

Currently, India's military space activities are managed within the Ministry of Defence by the Defence Space Agency (DSA) and Defence Space Research Agency (DSRO).¹⁴⁷ As a collaboration between India's air force, army, and navy, the DSA operates India's space warfare and satellite intelligence assets.¹⁴⁸ As India's military space R&D organization, the DSRO produces space warfare systems and related technologies, including electronic warfare, missiles, and radars, among others.¹⁴⁹ The DSRO developed the interceptor used for India's DA ASAT demonstration in 2019.¹⁵⁰ The Indian Air Force, currently being renamed the Indian Air and Space Force, also plays a significant role in India's military space activities.¹⁵¹

Internationally, India expanded its space partnerships through new bilateral and multilateral agreements, public statements, and working groups.¹⁵² On the civil space front, India signed the Artemis Accords in June 2023, affirming New Delhi's commitment to a set of principles for cooperation in civil space exploration.¹⁵³ On the military front, the United States reportedly shared satellite imagery of Chinese troops along the contested India-China border in 2022, potentially signaling interest in increasing intelligence ties with India, including in space, probably as a counterbalance to China.¹⁵⁴ In January 2024, India signed an agreement with France to jointly develop and launch military satellites.¹⁵⁵

India's Department of Space (DoS) administers all civilian space activities in the country.¹⁵⁶ The most significant organization in the DoS is the Indian Space Research Organization (ISRO), which is focused on space exploration and space technology development.¹⁵⁷ Several other smaller space-focused government organizations fall under the DoS, including the Indian National Space Promotion and Authorization Centre (IN-SPACe) and NewSpace India Limited (NSIL), both of which foster the growth of the nation's private space sector.¹⁵⁸

Last year, India released Indian Space Policy 2023, the nation's first official space policy, which outlines the peaceful, prosperous, and sustainable use of space by government and non-government entities.¹⁵⁹ It complements India's ongoing Mission DefSpace initiative that challenges private companies to produce space and other defense equipment domestically.¹⁶⁰ In November 2023, Prime Minister Narendra Modi also unveiled Space Vision 2047, outlining India's long-term goals for space, including launching humans into space, establishing a space station, and building a lunar base.¹⁶¹

SPACE CAPABILITIES

India launched its first satellite on a domestically produced rocket in 1980. Although India only conducted about one space launch per year for most of the last two decades, it has recently ramped up its launches, with five launches in 2022 and seven launches in 2023.¹⁶² Currently, the Small Satellite Launch Vehicle, Polar Satellite Launch Vehicle, and Geosynchronous Satellite Launch Vehicle (GSLV) are India's primary SLVs. The GSLV has two configurations, the Mark-II and Mark-III, the latter of which is also referred to as Launch Vehicle Mark-3 (LVM3).¹⁶³ In addition to launching Indian payloads, these rockets serve international custom-

INDIA HAS PLANS TO LAUNCH AND OPERATE OVER 100 MILITARY SATELLITES IN THE NEXT SEVEN TO EIGHT YEARS.

ers such as OneWeb, which launched its satellites on the LVM3 in 2023.¹⁶⁴ In April 2023, India conducted tests of a reusable spaceplane, dropping the spacecraft from a helicopter and then successfully landing it autonomously.¹⁶⁵

In 2023, India spent about \$1.5 billion on its civil space efforts.¹⁶⁶ According to Indian officials, the Chandrayaan-3 mission cost only \$75 million, a remarkably low amount for a successful space mission to another celestial body.¹⁶⁷ In September 2023, India launched Aditya-L1, a spacecraft designed to study the Sun from the L1 Lagrange point. India is planning to send Indian astronauts to space in 2025.¹⁶⁸ Currently, India has about 60 active satellites performing communications, remote-sensing, and positioning, timing, and navigation functions.¹⁶⁹ Three of those satellites are dedicated to providing military communications.¹⁷⁰ In April 2024, SpaceX plans to launch a new Indian SAR satellite with 0.5-meter resolution, which will reportedly be used to monitor the Indian-Chinese border.171

Although India continues to expand its space activities, it has not yet made a significant impact on the global space market, accounting for less than one percent of the international launch services market.¹⁷² To increase its share of the global space econINDIA



Modi congratulating ISRO for India's successful lunar landing.

PHOTO BY PUNIT PARANJPE/GETTY IMAGES

omy, boost the domestic technology and industrial sectors, and improve its international standing, India continues to encourage developments in the commercial industry that could enable new future space security capabilities. India has also encouraged the development of domestic space start-ups.¹⁷³

COUNTERSPACE ASSESSMENT

Increasingly focused on the military uses of space, India tested a DA ASAT missile in March 2019, destroying a defunct Indian satellite in LEO and becoming only the fourth country to successfully demonstrate this capability.¹⁷⁴ Prime Minister Modi said the test was, "not against anyone," although a retired Indian air marshal claimed it was intended "to send a message to the rest of the world, particularly to China, because they did it in 2007."¹⁷⁵ In April 2019, the head of the DSRO stated that India is developing directed energy, laser, EMP, and orbital weapons.¹⁷⁶ Since then, there have been no public announcements or indications of India's progress to develop these capabilities. IRAN

IRAN

Despite long-standing international concern that Iran's space developments serve to advance its missile technology, Iran continued to advance its space capabilities and demonstrated notable space milestones over the last year. Although Tehran saw previous setbacks with its Simorgh SLV, it most recently conducted two successful space launches in January 2024—one via a Simorgh SLV and another with a Qaem 100 rocket—that placed four separate satellites into orbit.¹⁷⁷ In September 2023, Iran launched its third military satellite, Noor-3, which is believed to perform Earth remote sensing, like its two predecessor Noor satellites.¹⁷⁸ Iran also launched a biocapsule in December 2023 that may be part of Tehran's ambitions for a domestic human spaceflight capability.¹⁷⁹

SPACE POLICY, DOCTRINE, AND ORGANIZATION

Since taking office in 2021, Iranian president Ebrahim Raisi has prioritized strengthening the country's nuclear, missile, and space programs. Raisi has recognized space as a "power-creating" industry, with Iran aiming to achieve "first place in the region" for its space capabilities.¹⁸⁰ Iranian officials have alluded to a "space club" of technologically capable nations, which Iran aims to join.¹⁸¹ In addition, advancements related to Iran's space program also advance Iran's policy goals around missile development, as SLVs and ICBMs use similar technologies.¹⁸²

In 2023, Iran outlined space goals in a 10year strategic plan created by the Supreme Space Council.¹⁸³ In response to the 10-year plan, Raisi underscored the importance of investing in domestic space capabilities, including space launch, and completing the goal of placing an Iranian communications satellite in GEO.¹⁸⁴ Another goal is the development and launch of at least eight new satellites, plus a telecommunication constellation of 10 small satellites named the General Soleimani Satellite System.¹⁸⁵ Furthermore, Iran aims to send a human into space in the next five years.¹⁸⁶

Due to Russia's procurement of Iranian missiles and drones for use in Ukraine and sanctions that have disrupted Russian space launch sales to the West, Iran is now one of Russia's few remaining space customers and has used that to its advantage in negotiations with Moscow. In 2022, Russia built and launched Iran's Khayyam Earth observation satellite.¹⁸⁷ In October 2023, Iran announced plans to seek additional aid from Russia on a new Khayyam-2 satellite. It also plans to discuss developing with Russia a remote-sensing satellite, a small GEO satellite, and a telecommunications satellite.¹⁸⁸ Furthermore, in September 2023, universities in Iran and Russia agreed to jointly develop a research spacecraft in the next two years.189

Although viewed skeptically by the United States and other nations, Iran claims that its civilian space activities, led by the Iranian Space Agency (ISA) and Iranian Space Research Center (ISRC), are dedicated to peaceful purposes.¹⁹⁰ The Supreme Space Council, chaired by the Iranian president, develops the policies of the ISA and ISRC.¹⁹¹ While the ISA is organized under Iran's Ministry of Information and Communications Technology, its activities are influenced by the Ministry of Defense and Armed Forces Logistics (MODAFL).¹⁹² Specifically, the ISA has worked closely with MODAFL-affiliated organizations on Iran's liquid-fueled ballistic missile program.¹⁹³ The Islamic Revolutionary Guard Corps (IRGC) Aerospace Force also conducts space launches.¹⁹⁴

Over the last several years, the IRGC has become more active in space and expanded its efforts at the Shahroud missile test site, one of two main Iranian spaceports, including in the construction and launching of the Noor satellites.¹⁹⁵

IRAN IS NOW ONE OF RUSSIA'S FEW REMAINING SPACE CUSTOMERS AND HAS USED THAT TO ITS ADVANTAGE IN NEGOTIATIONS WITH MOSCOW.

SPACE CAPABILITIES

Iran's recent launches of IRGC satellites demonstrate its intent to advance its space program for military purposes. After two failed launch attempts in 2019, Iran launched its first satellite, Noor-1, in 2020, followed by Noor-2 in 2022.¹⁹⁶ Noor-1 decayed from orbit in 2022, but Noor-2 remains operational. In September 2023, the IRGC placed its third military satellite, Noor-3, into orbit.¹⁹⁷ All three Noor satellites reportedly perform Earth remote-sensing missions. The Noor-3, launched on a three-stage Qased rocket, is alleged to have 2.5 times better image accuracy than its predecessor, Noor-2, although its actual imaging capabilities are unknown.¹⁹⁸

In early January 2024, the IRGC launched the domestically made Soraya satellite on the Qaem 100 rocket, a three-stage solid-fuel launch vehicle. Soraya was placed in a 750 km orbit, Iran's highest orbit yet, and is reportedly for scientific and defense research.¹⁹⁹ Iran's telecommunications minister stated that the launch affirms Iran's rights in space.²⁰⁰ Weeks later, Iran launched a Simorgh rocket that placed three separate satellites into orbit, marking the first time Iran has deployed multiple satellites from one launch.²⁰¹ Furthermore, as part of its plan to send a human into space in the next five years, Iran launched a biocapsule in December 2023.²⁰²

Iran continues work on space systems that have yet to launch but are in different stages of production or delivery. In September 2023, the ISA received the Tolou-3 remote-sensing satellite from a subsidiary of MODAFL.²⁰³ Iran claims that the satellite will focus on agriculture, disaster management, and water resource management. In February 2024, Russia launched Iran's remote-sensing satellite, Pars-1.²⁰⁴ Pars-2 and Pars-3, also remote-sensing satellites, are reportedly in development.²⁰⁵

In addition to maturing its ability to manufacture satellites, Iran continues to develop and build SLVs, with four current vehicles, all optimized for LEO.²⁰⁶ In December 2023, Iran said that it was working on a new rocket, Sarir, that would be able to place satellites into GEO.²⁰⁷ In addition to the Imam Khomeini spaceport near Semnan and the Shahroud

IRAN

missile test site, Iran is now building the non-military Chabahar space center, a new launch site that Iran intends to open in 2025.²⁰⁸

COUNTERSPACE ASSESSMENT

In October 2023, the Iranian minister of defense declared that, amid the tensions in the Middle East, Iran must support national defense beyond its borders by harnessing space and cyberspace capabilities.²⁰⁹ Iran has continued its use of cyberattacks, which have grown increasingly sophisticated and aggressive in recent years, with attempted hacks into the foreign defense, civil society, and private systems of adversaries.²¹⁰ In September 2023, cyber threat actors linked to Iran targeted defense, satellite, and pharmaceutical companies in the United States and around the world to gather intelligence and trade secrets.²¹¹ Iran's cyber efforts are a relatively low-barrier method for the nation to retaliate even when its capabilities in other domains may not compare. Furthermore, even if cyberattacks do not directly target space assets, access to them can be impacted by attacks on terrestrial infrastructure.²¹²

In addition to its cyber capabilities, Iran can use jamming and spoofing to deny its adversaries the use of space capabilities, which some consider possible amid rising tensions with Iranian proxy groups in Iraq and Yemen.²¹³ Already, Iran has demonstrated its ability and willingness to jam satellite communications, interrupting the reception of foreign satellite-based television and audio channels.²¹⁴ Beginning in 2023, Iran also operates the Cobra V8 electronic warfare system, believed to be based on the Russian Krasukha-4, which its manufacturer has claimed can hide objects on the ground and in the air from space-based SAR systems.²¹⁵

Iran has claimed that its GNSS spoofing capabilities led to the downing of a U.S. drone in 2011.²¹⁶ Separately, over a twoweek period in September 2023, over 20 commercial and private aircraft reportedly





Shahroud missile test showing site expansion from 2020 (top) to 2024 (bottom).

PLANET: REPRINTED WITH PERMISSION

strayed off course when flying near Iran as a result of GNSS signal spoofing.²¹⁷ By November 2023, more than 50 such incidents had occurred, mostly near Baghdad, Cairo, and Tel Aviv.²¹⁸ Some experts tracked the source of the spoofing to an area east of Tehran, although Israel has also been identified as a source of spoofing in the Middle East since the Hamas attacks in October 2023.²¹⁹

There is no open-source indication that Iran possesses DA ASAT or orbital counterspace weapons.

NORTH KOREA

Since its first attempt to launch a satellite in 1998, North Korea has made eight more launch attempts, successfully put three satellites into orbit, and renamed or reorganized its space agency three times. Last year saw its first successful space launch since 2016, with the launch of the Malligyong-1 military reconnaissance satellite, which was discussed in last year's report. Pyongyang also completed significant upgrades to the Sohae satellite launching station. Additionally, North Korea strengthened its cooperation with Russia in various areas, including space technology.

SPACE POLICY, DOCTRINE, AND ORGANIZATION

North Korea's Law on Space Development, enacted in 2013 and revised in 2022, provides the legal foundation for the nation's space activities and explains how North Korean space development adheres to the principles of *Juche*, the state ideology.²²⁰ It further declares the aim to use space for peaceful purposes and calls for international cooperation on space projects.²²¹ Additionally, the Workers' Party of Korea Congress adopted a five year plan in 2021 focused on advancing civil and military space, setting a goal to launch the nation's first spy satellites, produce solid-fuel ICBMs, and develop hypersonic and multi-warhead missiles.²²²

The National Aerospace Technology Agency (NATA) oversees North Korea's space activities, including developing and operating SLVs and satellites. NATA was established by the 2013 Law on Space Development and then reorganized in 2023.²²³ A high-ranking North Korean source claimed that NATA's reorganization was mainly to facilitate ongoing technological cooperation with Russia.²²⁴

North Korean and Russian ties related to space technologies may also be increasing. Since the imposition of sanctions on Russia following its invasion of Ukraine, experts believe that Russia has provided missile technology and components, food and fuel shipments, and spare parts for its Soviet-era military equipment to North Korea.²²⁵ In exchange, Russia has received North Korean-manufactured munitions.²²⁶

SPACE CAPABILITIES

In November 2023, North Korea successfully launched a military surveillance satellite, the Malligyong-1, into orbit on the solid-fueled Chŏllima-1, the first successful launch of this rocket.²²⁷ While North Korea's satellite reconnaissance capabilities are rudimentary compared to those of China and the United States, the successful launch is a political and symbolic achievement.²²⁸

North Korea also tested a solid-fuel ICBM in 2023, which could be used for space launch.²²⁹ Solid-fuel propellant is more portable and energy-dense than liquid fuel, potentially providing North Korea the ability to build rockets that can launch heavier satellites or place satellites in higher orbits. In December 2023, state media reported on 2024 plans to launch three more reconnaissance satellites.²³⁰

In May 2023, satellite imagery revealed that North Korea is working on significant upgrades to the Sohae satellite launching station that include additional on-site storage, easier transportation around Sohae, and expanded port access and support for large SLVs.²³¹

COUNTERSPACE ASSESSMENT

During the last year, there were no indications in open-source reporting of advances in North Korean counterspace capabilities. To date, North Korea has not demonstrated or announced plans to develop DA ASAT or orbital counterspace capabilities.²³² The nation remains skilled in electronic warfare and cyberattacks, including a March 2023 cyber operation targeting a Russian aerospace research institute and another in April 2023 targeting defense industry firms in Eastern Europe and Africa.²³³ Additionally, North Korea's cyber operations are used to gather information on aerospace technologies and commit financial crimes that provide revenue for the country's missile development programs.²³⁴ In March 2024, North Korea attempted to jam GPS signals during South Korean military exercises, the first reported use of GPS jamming by North Korea in eight years.²³⁵

IN NOVEMBER, NORTH KOREA SUCCESSFULLY LAUNCHED A MILITARY SURVEILLANCE SATELLITE . . . [WHICH] IS A POLITICAL AND SYMBOLIC ACHIEVEMENT. **OTHERS**

OTHER COUNTRIES

AUSTRALIA

Australia continues to become more forward leaning in its space policy and partnerships. In December 2023, Australia, the United States, and the United Kingdom announced the Deep Space Advanced Radar Capability (DARC), a joint space domain awareness program to provide advanced monitoring of satellites in GEO.²³⁶ This announcement was accelerated by AUKUS—the trilateral security partnership between Australia, the United Kingdom, and the United States—and is complemented by an October 2023 Technology Safeguard Agreement between Australia and the United States that allows U.S. commercial SLVs to launch from and land in Australia.²³⁷

In March 2024, Australia's largest commercial satellite was launched on a Falcon 9 rocket. This orbiting service vehicle will demonstrate a capability to provide life extension services to satellites already on orbit and will be able to physically move other satellites.²³⁸

FRANCE

France continues to be a major player in space, although the country only had three launches in 2023 (down from five in 2022). The Ariane 5's last flight occurred on July 5, 2023, creating a gap in European heavy-lift capability until the planned first launch of the Ariane 6 in mid-2024.²³⁹ France launched one defense payload in 2023, a military communications satellite.²⁴⁰

Of the Western nations, France is perhaps the most vocal in stating its plans for counterspace weapons development and fielding. In April 2023, the Ministry of the Armed Forces of France released its 2024–2030 Military Programming Law, which includes plans for orbital counterspace capabilities.²⁴¹ These include a project for "lasers in orbit" called FLAMHE and a ground-based laser counterspace system called BLOOMLASE, both of which aim to be operational by the end of the decade.²⁴²

An article published by the ministry in October 2023 mentions plans for a GEO-based active defense constellation.²⁴³ YODA, a demonstrator satellite for the constellation, is planned to be launched in 2025.²⁴⁴

ISRAEL

Israel continues to expand its national security space capabilities and its space exploration program. In March 2023, Israel launched a new SAR satellite on its Shavit-2 rocket, joining a family of on-orbit reconnaissance satellites.²⁴⁵ On the civil side, it announced in February 2023 that NASA, working with the Israel Space Agency, will launch Israel's first space telescope mission, the Ultraviolet Transient Astronomy Satellite (ULTRASAT), to investigate short-duration phenomena in the universe, such as supernova explosions.²⁴⁶

With Israel at war against Hamas, it has deployed electronic warfare capabilities that have interfered with satellite services. In mid-October 2023, as it began military operations in Gaza, Israel said it was restricting GPS use in active combat areas and warned the public to expect glitches in location-based applications that use GPS.²⁴⁷ Israel also acknowledged the use of GPS spoofing, observed to originate in northern Israel, stating that it was a required defensive measure, likely to confuse guided missiles, drones, and rockets used by Hezbollah.²⁴⁸ These efforts to disrupt and confuse GPS signals have also impacted civilian aircraft, with multiple instances of GPS interference reported by pilots in the area.²⁴⁹ The readiness of Israel to interfere with and disrupt the reception of GPS signals, even its willingness to officially acknowledge that interference, reinforces this report's observations that GPS jamming and spoofing risk becoming commonplace counterspace activities.

Although there is no information that the system will or could target satellites, Israel's Iron Beam is a short-range directed energy air defense system that could possibly be employed against satellites in the future. While it was not expected to enter operational use for several years, Israel announced in October 2023 that it would be deployed soon to enhance Israel's defenses during the ongoing conflict with Hamas.²⁵⁰

Also of note was Israel's November 2023 use of its Arrow missile defense system to intercept a medium-range ballistic missile (MRBM) fired by Houthi rebels from Yemen.²⁵¹ While the intercept was reported at an altitude of about 100 km, MRBMs can reach an altitude of over 300 km at their peak, solidly within very low Earth orbit (VLEO), making the Israeli Arrow system and similar missile defense systems capable of being DA ASAT weapons.²⁵²

JAPAN

Japan has maintained momentum after its 2022 release of three strategic defense documents that all integrated space. In June 2023, Japan released a Space Security Initiative, serving as the country's first space security policy. The initiative will be based on three basic policies: expanding the use of space for national security, ensuring the safe and sustainable use of space, and creating a positive cycle of space security and space industrial development.²⁵³ In November 2023, Tokyo announced that the Japan Aerospace Exploration Agency (JAXA) would be allocated ¥1 trillion (\$6.7 billion) over a 10-year period to support the nation's commercial sector and technology development in the space industry.²⁵⁴

Japan and the United States have also maintained momentum in their space relationship. In January 2023, the two nations signed an agreement to collaborate on space science, space exploration, technology, and mission assurance and safety. Notably, the January 2023 U.S.-Japan Security Consultative Committee meeting between Japanese and U.S. foreign and defense ministers led to the joint statement that "attacks to, from, or within space ... in certain circumstances, could lead to the invocation of Article V of the Japan-U.S. Security Treaty," which commits that the United States would defend Japan if any of its territory was attacked by a third party.²⁵⁵ In March 2023, the two nations held the eighth U.S.-Japan Comprehensive Dialogue on Space, during which policymakers from both countries discussed national security as well as commercial and civil space cooperation.²⁵⁶

SOUTH KOREA

South Korea continues to place increasing emphasis on space and space technology, seen through myriad strategy, program, budget, and organizational initiatives. At the end of 2022, South Korea's defense ministry announced a new military space strategy to build and organize space capabilities.²⁵⁷ In December 2022, the Ministry of Science and Information and Communication Technology released the 4th Space Development Promotion Basic Plan, which outlines the nation's military, civil, and commercial space goals for the next five years. These include new launch vehicles, manned space vehicles, on-orbit services, and early warning satellites.²⁵⁸ South Korea's new space budget follows this plan, allocating ₩874 billion (\$674 million) for space across all offices and programs, a 20 percent increase from the previous year.²⁵⁹ The largest portion of the budget is earmarked for developing a sovereign GNSS, the Korean Positioning System (KPS), a priority in the space development plan. The KSLV-3 rocket and space defense are the second- and third-largest categories of spending, respectively.²⁶⁰

OTHERS

Noteworthy achievements in 2023 include the successful first launch of South Korea's KSLV-2 (Nuri) rocket in May 2023 and the launch of South Korea's first spy satellite from the U.S. Vandenberg Space Force Base in November 2023.²⁶¹ In January 2024, Minister of Science Lee Jong-ho announced that South Korea's space agency, the Korea AeroSpace Administration (KASA), would be launched in May and would lead aerospace research and space missions, such as Moon and Mars exploration projects.²⁶² KASA will also facilitate the domestic aerospace industry, including "plans to foster more than 2,000 space-related companies and create about 500,000 new jobs."263 This is in addition to the already established Korean Aerospace Research Institute (KARI), which will focus on technology R&D in support of KASA, which will now lead "space industry and space security."264

South Korea is also expanding its partnerships in space with the United States. In 2023, the two countries held their first space policy consultative group meeting, the first Technical Working Group meeting on GPS-KPS cooperation, the second U.S.-South Korea space cooperation tabletop exercise, a U.S.-Japan-South Korea trilateral summit on space security cooperation, the 21st U.S.-South Korea space cooperation working group, and the South Korea-U.S. space forum. They also signed a joint statement on cooperation in space exploration and space science.²⁶⁵

UNITED KINGDOM

The United Kingdom established its Space Command as well as its first National Space Strategy in 2021.²⁶⁶ In 2023, the United Kingdom released two space plans: the National Space Strategy in Action and the Science and Technology Framework. These set the framework for a March 2024 document, the Space Industrial Plan. Together, the three plans outline UK space strategy until 2030 and a roadmap for delivering 22 national space capability goals by the end of the decade.²⁶⁷ UK Space Command confirmed that its ongoing priorities were operationalizing its activities, including the Ministry of Defence's SKYNET military communication satellite program.²⁶⁸ The United Kingdom is also focused on international cooperation and joined the United States and Australia for the DARC network of space-tracking radars.²⁶⁹ In 2023, the UK government announced that it would fund £10 billion (\$12.7 billion) over the next decade to meet the goals outlined in the National Space Strategy.²⁷⁰

NON-STATE ACTORS

This year continued a pattern of non-state actor activity associated with large-scale conflicts, including Russia's war on Ukraine and Iran-backed groups in the Middle East. GhostSec, an Anonymous-affiliated cyber hacktivist group, targeted GNSS receivers related to Russian and Israeli infrastructure.²⁷¹ In June 2023, hackers claiming affiliation with the Wagner Group reported disrupting Russian satellite communications networks, resulting in internet provider Dozor-Teleport, which supplies Russia's military and Federal Security Service, showing drops in connectivity later that same month.²⁷²

Regional indiscriminate jamming has become the new normal in conflicts. Jamming devices, which are fairly cheap and effective, have become a popular tool for state and non-state actors alike. Hamas reportedly used jamming to support its October 7 attack on Israel.²⁷³ In the months prior, commercial airliners and business jets near Syria, Lebanon, and the Gaza strip reported spoofing attacks, which experts suspect were aimed at "denial of service rather than actual deception" and were unable to be attributed.²⁷⁴ Notably, interference spiked during periods of heightened conflict involving drone attacks and rocket launches.²⁷⁵

FEATURED ANALYSIS: COALITIONS OF CONVENIENCE

Since the beginning of the space age, activities in space have reflected—and shaped—larger geopolitical dynamics. For reasons specific to each country, China, Russia, Iran, and North Korea face heightened tensions with the United States and its allies in Europe and Asia. As a result, these four nations, each to a greater or lesser degree, are becoming more isolated from Western supply chains, technologies, and scientific communities. Each nation also has ambitions in space. Although each country may not entirely trust the intentions of the other, each country has sought some type of coalition of convenience on space cooperation to fulfill their national ambitions. The one exception to this trend may be Chinese cooperation with Iran and North Korea on space. Based on open-source information, this report's authors could not find indications of space cooperation between these three countries.

RUSSIAN AND CHINESE SPACE COLLABORATION

Russia's 2014 annexation of Crimea led to a precipitous decline in U.S.-Russian space cooperation, a decline that accelerated following Russia's 2022 invasion of Ukraine, creating an opportunity for increased partnerships between Russia and China on space issues.²⁷⁶ While China may be an attractive trading partner for Russia to counter the impacts of Western sanctions, it is unclear whether space technology transfer between the two countries has increased, even though Russia and China have announced several partnerships on space technologies and capabilities over the last few years. Both Russia and China remain suspicious of each other, with Russia accusing China of conducting espionage cyber campaigns on its telecommunications and government services in November 2023.277

In 2017 and 2019, Moscow and Beijing signed agreements related to space and missile defense technology transfer, leading to joint efforts to facilitate compatibility between GLONASS and BeiDou, the two countries' respective GNSS systems.²⁷⁸ In 2022, the two countries agreed to further develop joint GNSS capabilities, agreeing to place GLONASS ground stations in six Chinese cities and BeiDou ground stations in six Russian cities.²⁷⁹ Furthermore, Russia has reportedly aided China in developing a space-based missile warning system.²⁸⁰

More recently, Chinese firms provided Russia's Wagner Group with satellite imagery of Ukraine in 2023, causing the United States to place sanctions on those firms and serving as a clear example of Chinese support to Russia's military activities in Ukraine.²⁸¹ Also in 2023, Russian president Vladimir Putin called for expanding cooperation on military satellites and high-orbit assets to "ensure strategic security of both Russia and the People's Republic of China."282 In November 2023, Russia and China agreed to a four-year plan for jointly building and developing the International Lunar Research Station (ILRS) and exploring the Moon's surface.²⁸³ The head of Roscosmos announced

in March 2024 that China and Russia are exploring the possibility of constructing a nuclear power station on the Moon to support future lunar settlements.²⁸⁴

Additionally, Russia and China use their space programs and partnership to recruit diplomatic allies.²⁸⁵ Together, Beijing and Moscow collaborate on space issues with a number of countries, including Argentina, Brazil, Egypt, Ethiopia, India, Iran, Saudi Arabia, South Africa, and the UAE. In 2023, six more countries joined China and Russia as part of the ILRS coalition: Azerbaijan, Belarus, Egypt, Pakistan, South Africa, and Venezuela.²⁸⁶

Additionally, China and Russia partner in the United Nations on space issues, for example, pursuing a treaty, first introduced in 2008, on the non-weaponization of space. At odds with their development of counterspace capabilities, advocacy for this initiative likely reflects diplomatic maneuvers to blame the United States, as it has opposed this treaty. On the other hand, China and Russia have joined forces to oppose efforts of the UN Open Ended Working Group (OEWG) to develop a set of recommendations on responsible behaviors and norms in space.²⁸⁷

For now, Beijing and Moscow appear to use their global space partnerships, including with one another, for political posturing against the United States. Their relationship is built on mutual suspicion, with neither side interested in being eclipsed by the other in space. While pursuing a friendship with "no limits," both China and Russia appear to accept transactional relationships, capitalizing on the other's weaknesses.

RUSSIAN COLLABORATION WITH IRAN AND NORTH KOREA

Western sanctions and broken cooperation agreements have limited Russia's ability to find customers for its space services and technology and have impacted its ability to acquire Western-produced components historically used in the domestic production of advanced space systems, particularly communication satellites. Since its 2022 invasion of Ukraine, Russia has sought customers for its space technology and knowledge, while at the same time seeking strategic partnerships and weapons for its war. Iran and North Korea are offering Russia all of these, with their bilateral partnerships growing stronger over the past year. In return, Iran and North Korea receive Russian aid for their space programs. Ultimately, the development of events on Earth, especially the war in Ukraine, will determine the future pace of these countries' space cooperation.

WHILE PURSUING A FRIENDSHIP WITH "NO LIMITS," BOTH CHINA AND RUSSIA APPEAR TO ACCEPT TRANSACTIONAL RELATIONSHIPS, CAPITALIZING ON THE OTHER'S WEAKNESSES.

Iran

As Iran has worked to develop a space program in recent years, it has turned to Russia for support on space launch and satellite systems. In return, Russia has obtained drones from Iran for use in Ukraine.²⁸⁸ Russia launched Iran's Khayyam Earth observation satellite, which was constructed by Russian companies, on a Soyuz rocket in 2022, marking the first time

COALITIONS OF CONVENIENCE

Russia built and launched a satellite for Iran.²⁸⁹ In October 2023, Iran announced plans to seek additional aid from Russia on a new Khayyam-2 satellite.²⁹⁰ Reportedly, Iran also plans to discuss developing a remote-sensing satellite, a small GEO satellite, and a telecommunications satellite with Russia.²⁹¹ Furthermore, in September 2023, universities in Iran and Russia agreed to jointly develop a research spacecraft in the next two years.²⁹² In February 2024, Russia launched Iran's Pars-1 remote-sensing satellite.²⁹³

In return for Iran's continued supply of weapons to Russia for its war in Ukraine, Western analysts worry that Russian space launch technology and components will be transferred to Tehran for its ballistic missile programs under the cover of space cooperation. As of January 2024, Iran is in talks with Russia and China to procure solid rocket fuel that is used for its SLVs and ballistic missiles. If the agreement goes through, Iran may also use the fuel to supply more weapons to Russia for use in Ukraine. Some analysts believe that providing Iran with fuel is a way for China to subtly support Russia without provoking the West.²⁹⁴

Like the Sino-Russian partnership, Iran's space partnerships follow two motives: strategic cooperation and commercial transactions. Iran and Russia have likely bonded over their mutual need to cope with sanctions and a shared opposition to Western dominance and have announced their partnership in several public statements.²⁹⁵ Iran has been one of Russia's only customers for space since its invasion of Ukraine, securing Russia much-needed funding for its struggling space program.²⁹⁶

Overall, Russia and Iran have signaled their intent to continue cooperating closely on space and other technological matters, which should raise alarms among U.S. policymakers.²⁹⁷ If Russia continues to drain its resources in Ukraine, it will lean even more heavily on Iran for aid, potentially offering more elaborate space capabilities in return.



Putin and Kim touring the Vostochny Cosmodrome satellite launch center in September 2023. PHOTO BY MIKHAIL METZEL/GETTY IMAGES

North Korea

As with Iran and Russia, North Korea has struggled to circumvent Western-imposed sanctions that impact its space sector.²⁹⁸ By cooperating with Russia, North Korea probably receives help with nuclear and space technologies, parts for its aging Soviet-era military equipment, and food and fuel to alleviate the country's shortages.²⁹⁹ Russia, in exchange, receives artillery shells, rockets, and other munitions that help the country in its extended war against Ukraine.³⁰⁰

As background, Russian defense minister Sergei Shoigu visited North Korea in July 2023 to discuss military cooperation.³⁰¹ In September 2023, Putin and Kim Jong-un met at the Russian Vostochny Cosmodrome satellite launch center, their first meeting since 2019.³⁰² As the two viewed Russia's air defense technologies and military factories, Kim pledged his support for Putin's war against Ukraine, while Putin committed to helping North Korea build and launch satellites.³⁰³

The following month, satellite imagery captured an unprecedented number of freight railcars at the Tumangang-Khasan rail crossing between North Korea and Russia, with analysts suggesting that North Korea was supplying weapons to Russia.³⁰⁴ In the same period, Russia may have used the transit route to send weapons to North Korea.³⁰⁵ Both of these presumed trading episodes violate multiple UN Security Council resolutions and sanctions placed on the countries by the United States and its partners.³⁰⁶

Soon after these events, in November 2023, Russia and North Korea signed a protocol to expand cooperation in trade, science, and technology.³⁰⁷ Their deepening partnership was further confirmed in January 2024 when Russia used North Korean ballistic missiles in Ukraine. What is not apparent in opensource information is the extent to which Russia is sharing technology and expertise with North Korea that would allow it to improve its own space launch and satellite manufacturing capabilities. WHAT TO WATCH

WHAT TO WATCH

The 2023 edition of CSIS's *Space Threat Assessment* made several prescient predictions. Over the last year, the United States energetically pursued international support through the United Nations for a destructive DA ASAT testing ban.³⁰⁸ Although nations may frown on using debris-generating counterspace weapons, as predicted in last year's report, they are using other capabilities against space systems, such as cyberattacks and GNSS and SATCOM jamming. More cyber operations and efforts to disrupt space capabilities, including jamming, and spoofing are likely to be seen in the future.

Finally, as noted last year, countries continue to exhibit growing interest in space, particularly as an essential element of their national and economic security. Many countries continue to develop space surveillance capabilities that not only facilitate safe space operations but also support counterspace activities. China will likely continue to focus on space, potentially ramping up its efforts to place its own LEO broadband constellations in orbit during the next year.

Although Russia retains formidable space capabilities and may be developing a spacebased nuclear ASAT weapon, Russia is on the decline, with a significantly slower launch cadence than in the past and an inability to produce space systems using the most modern technologies. India will likely continue making strides in space. France, Germany, Japan, and South Korea updated or introduced space security strategies this past year. These and other nations are likely to further increase their focus on space security over the coming years.

IMPACTS TO PUBLIC SAFETY FROM GNSS INTERFERENCE

As this report has noted, interference with space-based services, such as satellite communications and GNSS signals, has become ubiquitous and will likely pose an increasing risk to public safety going forward. Reports of GNSS spoofing attributed to countries and non-state actors around the world have significantly increased over the past year. For example, spoofing of GPS signals in 2023 was reported in Eastern Europe, Scandinavia, Russia, Gaza and southern Israel, Iran, Turkey, China, and Pakistan, with GNSS jamming reported in Ukraine, over the Baltics, in the South China Sea, Philippine Sea, eastern Indian Ocean, northwest of Australia, and near South Korea.

Many of these reports come from commercial airline pilots and crews of maritime shipping vessels who rely on GNSS positioning data to transport their passengers and cargo to and from their destinations around the globe.³⁰⁹ Efforts to interfere with the reception of GNSS signals, particularly spoofing, which might convince an airline pilot or ship captain that they are somewhere they are not, are dangerous and pose a significant public safety risk. There is no reason to suspect anything but an increase in these jamming and spoofing activities in 2024.

PERVASIVENESS OF CYBER

Cyber operations will likely play an increasingly dominant role in efforts to deny the use of space, not necessarily because of a specific interest by cyber threat actors in space, but because space capabilities play an important role in global critical infrastructure, especially telecommunications. China, in particular, has ramped up malicious cyber activity aimed at U.S. critical infrastructure, with a goal of setting in place capabilities to disable or disrupt communications and transportation infrastructure in the Indo-Pacific region during any U.S.-China conflict.

With cyber operations, there is also a low bar for entry. Nations with no space capabilities or specific space infrastructure can conduct cyber operations. It is reasonable to expect the continuation of the same trend over the next year, with China continuing to target U.S. critical infrastructure and other cyber threat actors finding more reasons to target space systems and networks based on the important role space plays across a variety of functions critical to daily life.

MORE UNFRIENDLY BEHAVIORS

In addition to government satellites engaging in unfriendly behaviors in space, over the next year, commercial satellites with mission profiles that might be categorized as unfriendly will begin operations. More and more commercial satellites aimed at conducting in-space satellite imaging and satellite characterization activities, equipped with high maneuverability, will likely go into operation in the future. Does more transparency about satellite capabilities increase or decrease space security? If more transparency enhances space security, it is worth evaluating whether in-space satellite characterization activities should continue being considered unfriendly behaviors. Greater awareness of satellite capabilities, such as which satellites have grappling arms, paired with information about satellite behaviors and positioning may help operators identify possible destructive or disabling threats to their systems.

EVOLUTION OF COALITIONS OF CONVENIENCE

In the coming year, growing space engagement between Russia and Iran is likely, as both sides have something clear to gain from the partnership. Russia has gained a customer for its launch services and satellite manufacturers, as well as access to Iranian drone and missile production capabilities. Iran has gained a reliable, scalable space launch capability and can use Russian satellite manufacturers. It will be worth watching to see if Russia, rather than just selling launches and satellites, works with Iranian scientists and engineers to increase their own technical proficiencies and domestic space capabilities.

The future of Russian and North Korean space cooperation is slightly less clear and is likely dependent on what Russia thinks it will get from the relationship. It may depend on whether North Korea can continue producing and supplying Russia with munitions and weapons for use in Ukraine.

How the China-Russia space cooperation will evolve is even murkier. As noted in this report, there is little public information, beyond statements and announcements about collaborative projects, that sheds light on specific activities and technology exchanges. Due to China's progress in space, especially its increased launch cadence and deployment of dozens of remote-sensing satellites in the last year, it remains to be seen what Russia has to offer China. Russia may not have anything space-related that China cannot do on its own, meaning that China may not see a reason to deepen its space collaboration in the coming year.

WHAT TO WATCH

IMPORTANCE OF SPACE SURVEILLANCE

Government and commercial ground- and space-based SSA systems provide space operators with timely, accurate, and precise information on the locations of objects in space to conduct safe space operations. As this report noted last year, many counterspace capabilities, such as DA ASAT and orbital systems, also require robust SSA data for tracking and targeting. Space systems designed for espionage also depend on SSA data because these systems need to know the location of their targets. As unfriendly behaviors in space increase, so will demand for more and higher-quality SSA information, especially in terms of accuracy and precision, which will likely necessitate the deployment of additional terrestrial and space-based SSA sensors. China and Russia will likely seek to continue enhancing their own space surveillance systems to maintain sovereign capabilities.

As China and Russia enhance their own tracking systems, they may try to better understand the limitations and constraints of U.S. and allied space surveillance capabilities, particularly any gaps in coverage and time. Such an understanding could help China and Russia execute activities in space during those gap periods. To mitigate this risk, the United States should consider improving its own space surveillance capabilities, with a goal to not only track smaller objects but also reduce coverage and timing gaps for LEO and GEO objects.

COMMERCIAL OPERATORS FACE EVOLVING THREATS

Over the last two years, Ukraine has served as a proving ground for many space capabilities, demonstrating the value of commercial space services in the crucible of war and testing the abilities of commercial

operators to maintain service in spite of Russia electronic warfare and cyberattacks. Commercial operators have had to innovate and adapt to counter Russian counterspace efforts as well as, in one case, Russian efforts to co-opt commercial service for their own use. Starlink has shown the value of LEO broadband capabilities, so much so that Russian forces have apparently decided to use Starlink themselves in Ukraine.³¹⁰ Today and in future conflicts, this poses a twofold challenge for a commercial operator: the need to maintain service for the "good" users despite signal jamming while also identifying and denying service to the "bad" users.

Based on lessons from Ukraine, commercial remote-sensing operators should also prepare for future efforts to disrupt or interfere with their services. As noted earlier in this report, ground-based electronic warfare jammers not designed to target space systems can be used to create interference in SAR collection. Commercial SAR operators may want to plan for the future use of such systems to disrupt their services. Commercial electro-optical satellite operators should remain concerned too about systems designed to temporarily blind or disable their systems. Given growing concerns about the use of deepfake imagery, both SAR and electro-optical remote-sensing operators will also likely need to develop methods that allow customers to verify the authenticity of their data.³¹¹

Commercial operators, particularly ones with business models oriented around consumers, should not be expected to tackle these security and operational challenges alone. The U.S. government should consider ways to partner with space companies to better understand and develop ways to address these current challenges, which will likely increase in the future.

THE GEOPOLITICAL IMPACTS FROM COMMERCIAL SPACE

Satellite imagery has played an important role in providing near-real-time data about the situation on the ground in Israel and Gaza following the Hamas terrorist attacks in October 2023 and subsequent Israeli



Image of a Starlink terminal deployed in Ukraine. **PHOTO BY YASUYOSHI CHIBA/GETTY IMAGES**

military actions.³¹² Throughout the conflict, satellite imagery obtained from commercial space operators has been used to document the impacts of Israel's military operations on Gazan infrastructure, including using artificial intelligence algorithms to identify bomb craters.³¹³

Satellite imagery has been used in a similar way by media outlets in Ukraine to document the human toll of the conflict. In Ukraine, beyond providing satellite imagery to hold the antagonists accountable for their actions, U.S. satellite imagery companies have provided data directly to Ukraine to assist in its defensive efforts. To illustrate the ability of U.S. space companies to contribute valuable commercial services, these companies have routinely cited their contributions in Ukraine. Companies have been less visible in provisioning satellite imagery for the Israel-Gaza conflict, with at least one U.S. company modifying its business processes, including access and safeguards, to minimize misuse of its data.³¹⁴ However, U.S. companies have offered satellite imagery for humanitarian organizations operating in Gaza.

Satellite communications companies will also make decisions with geopolitical impacts. Israel's communications minister, responsible for regulating spectrum use in Israel, strongly condemned an offer in October 2023 from Elon Musk to provide Starlink service for humanitarian work in Gaza, threatening to suspend work with Starlink.³¹⁵ Additionally, Starlink denied a request by Ukraine to turn on service in Crimea to support Ukrainian military operations, citing U.S. sanctions against Russia.³¹⁶ In 2022, in an effort to promote internet freedom, Starlink activated service in Iran, a country also facing U.S. sanctions.³¹⁷

Looking ahead, services provided by commercial space operators will play a growing role in conflict zones. There are already concerns that Starlink is withholding service from Taiwan, although it is unclear whether that is due to the lack of regulatory approval from Taiwan's spectrum regulator or for some other reason.³¹⁸ It remains to be seen whether U.S. companies will be able to develop a consistent framework to determine to whom they sell their products,



beyond adherence to U.S. sanctions. For example, would a U.S. company doing inspace refueling refuse to service an Israeli communications satellite that might be supporting Israeli military activity in Gaza? Since U.S. regulations and export controls are not designed to provide a moral compass, companies have the latitude to decide on their own with whom they want to do business, potentially wading into turbulent and uncharted geopolitical waters for space companies.

CHINESE PROGRESS AND RUSSIAN DECLINE IN SPACE POWER

This year's assessment continues to chronicle China's launch and satellite technology advancements. China may look at space as a numbers game, meaning that China's goal is to exceed the United States by any metric related to space, such as more launches, more satellites, or more missions to the Moon. This approach does not ensure quality but instead emphasizes quantity and speed. In some ways, this is the same approach taken by the Soviet Union in the early days of the space race. If this analogy holds, there are lessons in store for China, namely that sacrificing quality for speed and quantity carries risk. This approach also has benefits for China, as emphasizing quantity and speed may allow it to quickly build a robust space architecture that can Image of Gaza from space. PHOTO BY MAPS4MEDIA/GETTY IMAGES

sustain losses and still provide service.

In any case, China has significantly increased the number of remote-sensing and surveillance satellites in orbit over the last year, posing new risks for U.S. military operations in the Indo-Pacific region. The ubiquity of Chinese space surveillance may necessitate new ways of warfighting, assuming that military forces are under constant surveillance from space. Additionally, 2024 is important to watch as the two Chinese companies planning LEO broadband constellations to rival Starlink begin putting sizable numbers of satellites into orbit.

It remains to be seen if China's economic headwinds will impact its spending on space or its ability to help finance and grow private space companies, which are viewed as incubators of innovation and new ideas, in contrast to China's state-run enterprises.

Meanwhile, there are signs, including the failure of the Russian Moon lander, that Russian space activity may be on the decline.³¹⁹ The number of Russian satellites in space has been declining for years. Since the end of the Cold War, Russia has depended on Western technology to build advanced satellites. Sanctions imposed after Russia's invasion of Ukraine have made access to those technologies much more difficult and will likely hinder Russia's ambitious space plans. Additionally, the lack of evidence that Russia LOOKING AHEAD, SERVICES PROVIDED BY COMMERCIAL SPACE OPERATORS WILL PLAY A GROWING ROLE IN CONFLICT ZONES.

has used more technologically advanced counterspace hardware, such as laser weapons, to influence outcomes in Ukraine during the last two years may be another sign of that decline or speak to difficulties in operationalizing these technologies.

In response to Russian counterspace braggadocio, the West may have overestimated Russian counterspace weapons and capabilities—arguably, the West has a history of overestimating Russian capabilities since the time of the presumed 1960s missile gap. Alternatively, the Russians may have decided not to use counterspace capabilities beyond cyber operations and jamming for other reasons. Use of such weapons, which would almost certainly have targeted U.S. commercial space systems, could have raised serious escalation risks. Perhaps there is no way to know, particularly in opensource reporting.

Last year's assessment suggested that U.S. adversaries might shift their targeting strategies toward ASAT capabilities designed to counter proliferated satellite constellations such as Starlink and the U.S. Space Development Agency's missile warning and tracking architecture. Given its alleged efforts to develop a new space-based nuclear ASAT weapon, Russia appears to be doing just that and looking for new counterspace tools to disrupt and degrade its adversaries' proliferated space systems.

CONCLUSION

There has not been a DA ASAT test since 2021, but countries are still considering how to deny their adversaries the use of space. It also does not mean that threats to space systems are decreasing. This past year, revelations that Russia is seeking to develop a nuclear space-based ASAT capability focused more attention on space security issues. Likewise, China continues to use aggressive cyber targeting of U.S. infrastructure, including satellite networks, in order to conduct espionage and establish footholds that might help it deny the United States use of critical capabilities in the event of a conflict in the Indo-Pacific region. Such activities are a reminder of the breadth of ways that space capabilities are being threatened.

More and more nation-states and threat actors are regularly conducting GNSS jamming and spoofing as defensive measures to protect against missile and air strikes. Meanwhile, China and Russia continue to conduct operations in space that suggest either espionage or the development and testing of future orbital counterspace weapons. What can be discerned through open-source reporting is possibly only the tip of the iceberg. Many counterspace threats are likely becoming harder to overtly see and track—they are moving into the shadows, both in the cyber domain and in space systems that conceal their ability to destroy behind a facade of other purposes.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Clayton Swope is the deputy director of the Aerospace Security Project and a senior fellow in the International Security Program at the Center for Strategic and International Studies (CSIS). Before joining CSIS, Swope led national security and cybersecurity public policy for Amazon's Project Kuiper, an initiative to increase global broadband access through a constellation of satellites in low Earth orbit. While at Amazon, he also worked on cloud policy issues. Prior to his time at Amazon, Swope served as a senior adviser on national security, space, foreign affairs, and technology policy issues for a member of the U.S. House of Representatives. He also worked for more than 14 years at the Central Intelligence Agency, serving largely in the Directorate of Science and Technology. He holds a Bachelor of Science in mechanical engineering from the University of Notre Dame.

Kari A. Bingen is the director of the Aerospace Security Project and a senior fellow in the International Security Program at CSIS. She joined CSIS from HawkEye 360, an innovative space technology company creating a new class of RF data and analytics, where she was the chief strategy officer. Prior to the private sector, Kari served as the deputy undersecretary of defense for intelligence and security, overseeing the defense intelligence and security enterprises, comprising more than 120,000 personnel and an annual budget of over \$54 billion. Before that, Kari served as the policy director on the House Armed Services Committee and staff lead for its Strategic Forces Subcommittee, advising members of Congress on defense policy, program, and budget matters. Prior to entering government, Kari specialized in national security space issues, working with U.S. defense and intelligence community clients, first as a space systems analyst at SRA International's Adroit C4ISR Center, and then as a senior space policy analyst at the Aerospace Corporation.

In addition to her work at CSIS, Kari is an adjunct assistant professor at Georgetown University. She is a member of the U.S. Strategic Command Strategic Advisory Group, was a commissioner on the CSIS Technology and Intelligence Task Force, and serves on a number of corporate and nonprofit advisory boards. She graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology with a degree in aeronautics and astronautics and was a 2002 National Reconnaissance Office technology fellow.

Makena Young is a fellow with the Aerospace Security Project at CSIS. Her research interests include international collaboration, space security, and orbital debris. Prior to joining CSIS, Ms. Young worked for the Federal Aviation Administration as an aerospace engineer, focusing on automatic dependent surveillance-broadcast certification and integration in small aircraft. She holds a BS in aeronautical and astronautical engineering from Purdue University with minors in international relations and environmental engineering.

Madeleine Chang joined the Aerospace Security Team at CSIS through the Horizon Fellowship, a yearlong program designed to bring subject matter experts in emerging technologies into the policy world. Before CSIS, she worked at Lockheed Martin as a satellite software engineer within the National Security Space business area. In the past, Madeleine has worked in liquidity risk management at Goldman Sachs and galaxy evolution research at the American Museum of Natural History. Her research interests include de-escalation and deterrence, norm-setting, and public international law. Madeleine holds a Master of Engineering Management and a dual BA in computer science and astronomy from Cornell University. **Stephanie Songer** was a research intern with the Aerospace Security Project at CSIS. Her research interests include space diplomacy, international politics, and space sustainability. Prior to joining CSIS, Ms. Songer was an intern at the United Nations Office for Outer Space Affairs. She holds an MA in international public affairs from Central European University and a BA in linguistics from Temple University.

Jeremy Tammelleo was a research intern with the Aerospace Security Project at CSIS. He is interested in the intersection of space, policy, and science, technology, engineering, and math. His research focused on tactically responsive space, space security operations, and export controls. He is currently a research intern in the Space Division at BryceTech. Before joining CSIS, Mr. Tammelleo conducted his master's thesis consulting with the U.S. Space Force on policy recommendations to reach the goals of its tactically responsive space program. He holds a Master in Public Policy from the Harvard Kennedy School and a BA in economics and political science from the University of Massachusetts Boston.

ENDNOTES

INTRODUCTION

- 1 "The Space Report 2023 Q4 Shows Record Number of Launches for Third Year in a Row, Technological Firsts, and Heightened Focus on Policy," Space Foundation, January 23, 2024, https://www.spacefoundation.org/2024/01/23/the-space-report-2023-q4/.
- 2 National Counterintelligence and Security Center, Safeguarding the US Space Industry (Washington, DC: Director of National Intelligence, August 2023), https://www.dni.gov/files/ NCSC/documents/SafeguardingOurFuture/FINAL%20FINAL%20Safeguarding%20the%20 US%20Space%20Industry%20-%20Digital.pdf.
- 3 Andrew Jones, "Chinese Satellite Internet Mission Rounds Off Record Year for Global Launches," *SpaceNews*, December 31, 2023, https://spacenews.com/chinese-satellite-interinet-mission-rounds-off-record-year-for-global-launches/.
- 4 Stephen Clark, "With Another Record Broken, the World's Spaceports Are Busier Than Ever," Ars Technica, November 30, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/11/2023-has-been-another-year-witha-record-number-of-orbital-launches/.
- 5 Scott A. Snyder, "Satellites, Summits, and Succession in North Korea," Council on Foreign Relations, January 31, 2024, https://www.cfr.org/blog/satellites-summits-and-success sion-north-korea; and Mike Wall, "Iran launches 3rd military satellite to orbit," Space.com, September 28, 2023, https://www.space.com/iran-launches-noor-3-imaging-satellite-sepm tember-2023.
- 6 Geeta Pandey, "Chandrayaan-3: India Makes Historic Landing near Moon's South Pole," BBC News, August 23, 2023, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-india-66594520; and Kenu neth Chang and Hisako Ueno, "Japan Explains How It Made an Upside-Down Moon Landing," *New York Times*, January 25, 2024, https://www.nytimes.com/2024/01/25/science/ japan-moon-lander-slim.html
- 7 Josh Pennington and Sean Lyngaas, "Starlink in Use on 'All Front Lines,' Ukraine Spy Chief Says, but Wasn't Active 'for Time' over Crimea," CNN, September 10, 2023, https://edition. cnn.com/2023/09/10/europe/ukraine-starlink-not-active-crimea-intl-hnk/index.html.
- 8 Niels de Hoog et al., "How War Destroyed Gaza's Neighbourhoods Visual Investigation," *The Guardian*, January 30, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/world/ng-interactive/2024/ jan/30/how-war-destroyed-gazas-neighbourhoods-visual-investigation.

TYPES OF COUNTERSPACE WEAPONS

- 9 Mark Smith, "Anti-Satellite Weapons: History, Types and Purpose," Space.com, August 10, 2022, https://www.space.com/anti-satellite-weapons-asats.
- 10 Scott Neuman, "A Russian Missile Creates Enough Space Junk to Pose Risk to Astronauts for Years," NPR, November 16, 2021, https://www.npr.org/2021/11/16/1056115953/russia-mis2 sile-satellite-astronaut-space-station-junk.
- 11 Darren McKnight, "Enabling Enduring Space Safety by Managing Orbital Debris," LeoLabs, March 2024, https://leolabs.space/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Managing-Orbital-Deg bris-Dr-Darren-McKnight-March-2024.pdf.
- 12 Edd Salkield et al., "Firefly: Spoofing Earth Observation Satellite Data through Radio Overshadowing," in *Proceedings 2023 Workshop on Security of Space and Satellite Systems* (Workshop on Security of Space and Satellite Systems, San Diego, CA, February 27, 2023), doi:10.14722/spacesec.2023.231879.
- 13 Joanna Plucinska, Valerie Insinna, and James Pearson, "Aviation Sector Seeks Urgent Solutions for GPS Interference," Reuters, January 24, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/business/ aerospace-defense/aviation-sector-seeks-urgent-solutions-gps-interference-2024-01-24/.
- 14 Antonia Chayes, "Rethinking Warfare: The Ambiguity of Cyber Attacks," Harvard Law

School, *Harvard National Security Journal*474, no. 6 (June 2015), https://harvardnsj.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Chayes.pdf.

- 15 Clarice Reid, "Russian Luch (Olymp) 2 Satellite Approaching Multiple Geo Spacecraft," Slingshot Aerospace, last modified December 7, 2023, https://blog.slingshotaerospace.com/ luch5x.
- 16 Kristin Burke, "Is Military Space-Based Jamming Normal? Some Worry It Is," War on the Rocks, November 13, 2023, https://warontherocks.com/2023/11/is-military-space-basedjamming-normal-some-worry-it-is/.
- 17 John Wiseman, "GPSJAM," GPSJAM, accessed March 12, 2024, https://gpsjam.org/. Data from "ADS-B Exchange," ADS-B Exchange, n.d., https://adsbexchange.com/.

CHINA

- 18 "China's Space Program: A 2021 Perspective," State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China, January 2022, https://www.cnsa.gov.cn/english/n6465652/ n6465653/c6813088/content.html.
- 19 Chan Jia Hao, "China's Digital Silk Road: A Game Changer for Asian Economies," *The Diplomat*, April 30, 2019, https://thediplomat.com/2019/04/chinas-digital-silk-road-a-gamechanger-for-asian-economies/; and Echo Huang, "China Is Building Its New Silk Road in Space, Too," Quartz, June 18, 2018, https://qz.com/1276934/chinas-belt-and-road-initia/ tive-bri-extends-to-space-too.
- 20 Mike Wall, "Not Just Artemis: China and Russia Plan to Put Boots on the Moon, Too," Space. com, September 3, 2022, https://www.space.com/china-russia-moon-base-ilrs; and "China, Russia Welcome Int'l Partners in Moon Station Cooperation," China National Space Administration (CNSA), April 25, 2021, https://www.cnsa.gov.cn/english/n6465668/n6465670/ c6811943/content.html; Laura Delgado López, "BRICS+ from Above: Why the Space Dimension of the Expanded Alliance Matters," CSIS, Commentary, October 2, 2023, https://www. csis.org/analysis/brics-above-why-space-dimension-expanded-alliance-matters; Mustapha Iderawumi, "Russian Space Companies to Offer Support to Boost Africa's Space Technology Development," Space in Africa, July 30, 2023, https://africanews.space/russian-space-com2 panies-to-offer-support-to-boost-africas-space-technology-development/; Kate Bartlett, "Enough Space for Everyone? US, China Target Africa," Voice of America, December 22, 2023, https://www.voanews.com/a/enough-space-for-everyone-us-china-target-africa-/7388756. html; and Aleksandra Gadzala Tirziu, "China, Latin America and the New Space Race," GIS Reports, July 4, 2023, https://www.gisreportsonline.com/r/china-space-latin/; and "Interna4 tional Cooperation in Outer Space," China National Space Administration, January 7, 2022, https://www.cnsa.gov.cn/english/n6465668/n6465670/c6840364/content.html.
- 21 Jonathan McDowell, "Space Activities in 2023," Jonathan's Space Report, January 15, 2024, https://planet4589.org/space/papers/space23.pdf.
- 22 "China's National Defense in the New Era," Ministry of National Defense of the People's Republic of China, July 24, 2019, http://eng.mod.gov.cn/xb/Publications/WhitePam pers/4846452.html.
- ²³ "Space Investment Quarterly: Q4 2023," Space Capital, January 16, 2024, 4, https://www. spacecapital.com/publications/space-investment-quarterly-q4-2023.
- 24 Karen M. Sutter, "'Made in China 2025' Industrial Policies: Issues for Congress," Congresssional Research Service, IF10964, updated December 22, 2022, https://crsreports.congress. gov/product/pdf/IF/IF10964/9; and "Chinese Space Sector Continues World-Leading Post-Covid Rebound: Euroconsult Quarterly Report," Euroconsult, May 11, 2021, https:// www.euroconsult-ec.com/press-release/chinese-space-sector-continues-world-leading-post-covid-rebound-euroconsult-guarterly-report/.
- ²⁵ "China's Space Program: A 2021 Perspective," State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China.
- 26 Office of the Secretary of Defense, *Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense, 2022), VII, https://media.

defense.gov/2022/Nov/29/2003122279/-1/-1/1/2022-MILITARY-AND-SECURITY-DEVEL-OPMENTS-INVOLVING-THE-PEOPLES-REPUBLIC-OF-CHINA.PDF.

- 27 Sugiura Yasuyuki, "The PLA's Pursuit of Enhanced Joint Operations Capabilities," National Institute for Defense Studies, 2022, https://www.nids.mod.go.jp/publication/chinareport/ pdf/china_report_EN_web_2022_A02.pdf; and Commander Michael Dahm, "China's Desert Storm Education," U.S. Naval Institute, *Proceedings* 147, no. 3, March 2021, https://www. usni.org/magazines/proceedings/2021/march/chinas-desert-storm-education.
- 28 Office of the Secretary of Defense, *Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense, 2023), 70, https://media. defense.gov/2023/Oct/19/2003323409/-1/-1/1/2023-MILITARY-AND-SECURITY-DEVEL-OPMENTS-INVOLVING-THE-PEOPLES-REPUBLIC-OF-CHINA.PDF.
- Kevin L. Pollpeter, Michael S. Chase, and Eric Heginbotham, *The Creation of the PLA Strategic Support Force and Its Implications for Chinese Military Space Operations* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, November 2017), doi:10.7249/RR2058; U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency, *Challenges to Security in Space* (Washington, DC: U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency, 2022), 10, https://www.dia.mil/Portals/110/Documents/News/Military_Power_Publicaw tions/Challenges_Security_Space_2022.pdf; and Kristin Burke, *PLA Counterspace Command and Control* (Montgomery, AL: China Aerospace Studies Institute, December 2023), https:// www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/documents/Research/PLASSF/2023-12-11%20 Counterspace-%20web%20version.pdf.
- 30 "机构职能" [Organization Role], CNSA, https://www.cnsa.gov.cn/n6758821/index.html#w_ two; and "中国载人航天工程简介" [Summary of China's Manned Space Program], China Manned Space Agency, translated by Google Translate, https://www.cmse.gov.cn/gygc/ gcjj/.
- 31 Pollpeter, Chase, and Heginbotham, *The Creation of the PLA Strategic Support Force and Its Implications for Chinese Military Space Operations*.
- ³² "Military-Civil Fusion and the People's Republic of China," U.S. Department of State, May 2020, https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/What-is-MCF-One-Pager.pdf.
- 33 Andrew Jones, "China's Space Pioneer Reaches Orbit with Liquid Propellant Rocket," *SpaceNews*, April 3, 2023, https://spacenews.com/chinas-space-pioneer-reaches-oribit-with-liquid-propellant-rocket/.
- 34 Andrew Jones, "China's Landspace Reaches Orbit with Methane-Powered Zhuque-2 Rocket," SpaceNews, July 12, 2023, https://spacenews.com/chinas-landspace-reachesorbit-with-methane-powered-zhuque-2-rocket/; and Ling Xin, "China's First Full-Scale Reusable Rocket Test Fuels iSpace Hyperbola-3 Ambitions," South China Morning Post, November 3, 2023, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/science/article/3240194/chir nas-first-full-scale-reusable-rocket-test-fuels-ispace-hyperbola-3-ambitions.
- 35 东方空间 ORIENSPACE, "打破世界纪录!引力一号首飞成功" [Breaking the World Record! Gravity-1's First Flight Succeeds], Weibo, video, January 11, 2024, https://weibo. com/tv/show/1034:4989005230702679?from=old_pc_videoshow; "Orienspace Launches Most Powerful Rocket by Private Chinese Firm," Reuters, January 11, 2024, https://www. reuters.com/technology/space/orienspace-launches-most-powerful-rocket-by-private-chinese-firm-2024-01-11/; and Andrew Jones, "Orienspace Breaks Chinese Commercial Launch Records with Gravity-1 Solid Rocket," *SpaceNews*, January 11, 2024, https://spacenews.com/orienspace-breaks-chinese-commercial-launch-records-with-gravity-1-solid-rocket/. Note: Gravity-1 can carry up 6.5 metric tons (14,330 lbs) to LEO, while Ceres-1 can carry up to 400 kg (882 lbs) to LEO. Comparatively, Falcon 9 can carry up to 22,800 kg (50,265 lb) to LEO. See "Ceres-1" Galactic Energy, https://www.galactic-energy.cn/index. php/List/cid/1; "引力火箭" [Gravity Rocket], Orienspace, https://www.orienspace.com/productPage; and "Falcon 9," SpaceX, https://www.spacex.com/vehicles/falcon-9/.
- 36 Andrew Jones, "China Makes Progress on Raptor-Like Engines for Super Heavy Rocket," SpaceNews, November 27, 2023, https://spacenews.com/china-makes-progress-on-raptorlike-engines-for-super-heavy-rocket/.
- 37 王祝华 [Wang Zhuhua], "海南国际商业航天发射中心预计6月底具备常态化高密度发射 能力" [Hainan International Commercial Space Launch Center Is Expected to Have Normal

High-Density Launch Capacity by the End of June], Sina, translated by Google Translate, January 22, 2024, https://finance.sina.com.cn/jjxw/2024-01-22/doc-inaempwq4682929. shtml; "海南商业航天发射场已进入发射能力形成攻坚阶段" [Hainan Commercial Space Launch Site Has Entered the Stage of Launch Capacity Formation], *The Paper*, translated by Google Translate, November 27, 2023, https://www.thepaper.cn/newsDetail_for0 ward_25440642; 王康景 [Wang Kangjing], "新海南财经观察 | 2023中国(文昌)商业航 天高峰论坛嘉宾: 商业航天的未来是大直径液体火箭 海南优势独一无二" [New Hainan Financial Observation | 2023 China (Wenchang) Commercial Aerospace Summit Forum Guest: The Future of Commercial Aerospace Is a Large-Diameter Liquid Rocket. Hainan's Advantages Are Unique.], Yunnan.cn, translated by Google Translate, November 27, 2023, https://m.yunnan.cn/system/2023/11/27/032849983.shtml; and 裴昱 [Pei Yu], "力争 2024年常态化发射 海南文昌建设中国唯一商业航天发射场" [Working toward Normal Launches in 2024: Hainan Wenchang Builds China's Only Commercial Launch Site], China Business News, translated by Google Translate, June 30, 2022, https://baijiahao.baidu. com/s?id=1737077347979468628&wfr=spider&for=pc.

- 38 Gregory J. Gagnon, "Space Order of Battle" (speech, 2024 Air Force Association Warfare Symposium, February 13, 2024), https://www.afa.org/app/uploads/2024/02/AWS24_Space-Order-of-Battle_Transcript.pdf.
- 39 Stephen N. Whiting, "Fiscal Year 2025 Priorities and Posture of United States Space Command," United States Senate Armed Services Committee, February 29, 2024, https://www. armed-services.senate.gov/imo/media/doc/whiting_statement.pdf.
- 40 Clayton Swope, "No Place to Hide: A Look into China's Geosynchronous Surveillance Capabilities," CSIS, *Critical Questions*, January 19, 2024, https://www.csis.org/analysis/ no-place-hide-look-chinas-geosynchronous-surveillance-capabilities.
- 41 Ibid.; "Treasury Sanctions Russian Proxy Wagner Group as a Transnational Criminal Organization," U.S. Department of the Treasury, January 26, 2023, https://home.treasury.gov/ news/press-releases/jy1220; and "Russia-Related Designations; Issuance of Russia-related General Licenses and Frequently Asked Question; Revocation of Russia-related General License," U.S. Department of the Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control, April 12, 2023, https://ofac.treasury.gov/recent-actions/20230412.
- 42 Kelly Ng, "Ukraine: US Sanctions Chinese Firm Helping Russia's Wagner Group," BBC, January 27, 2023, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-china-64421915.
- 43 Andrew Jones, "China Conducts Launch to Test Satellite Internet Capabilities," *SpaceNews*, November 23, 2023, https://spacenews.com/china-conducts-launch-to-test-satellite-ino ternet-capabilities/; and Andrew Jones, "First Satellite for Chinese G60 Megaconstellation Rolls Off Assembly Line," *SpaceNews*, December 29, 2023, https://spacenews.com/first-sata ellite-for-chinese-g60-megaconstellation-rolls-off-assembly-line/.
- 44 U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency, Challenges to Security in Space, 10–16; "三船布阵大洋 护送天问一号升空" [Three Ships Deployed in the Ocean to Escort Tianwen-1 into Space], 中国新闻网 [China News], translated by Google Translate, July 23, 2020, https://www.chinanews.com/gn/2020/07-23/9246236.shtml; and Cate Cadell, "China's Growing Space Program in Latin America Concerns U.S. Pentagon," Washington Post, November 21, 2023, https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/interactive/2023/china-space-program-south-america-defense/.
- 45 Kristin Burke, "The PLA's New Base for Space Situational Awareness—Opportunities and Challenges for the U.S.," China Aerospace Studies Institute, September 11, 2023, https:// www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/documents/Research/PLASSF/2023-09-11%20 The%20PLA's%20New%20Base%20for%20SSA.pdf.
- 46 吴桥[Wu Qiao] and 陶磊 [Tao Lei], "第八十二集团军某旅:严格考核倒逼提升战场 思维" [A Brigade of the 82nd Army: Strict Assessment Forced to Improve Battlefield Thinking], *PLA Daily*, translated by Google Translate, April 8, 2023, http://www.81.cn/ yw_208727/16215292.html; 刘宝瑞 [Liu Baorui] and 张凯丽 [Zhang Kaili], "特情淬硬功, 北部战区空军雷达某旅紧贴实战开展训练" [To Temper Their Skills under Special Circumstances, a Certain Brigade of the Air Force Radar in the Northern Theater Command Carried Out Training Close to Actual Combat], *PLA Daily*, translated by Google Translate, January 2, 2024, http://www.81.cn/yw_208727/16277537.html; and 张毓津 [Zhang Yujin], 陆正辉 [Lu

Zhenghui], and 陈 洋 [Chen Yang], "火箭军某部从难从严开展实战化综合演练" [A Certain Unit of the Rocket Force Carried Out Practical Comprehensive Drills in a Rigorous and Difficult Manner], *PLA Daily*, translated by Google Translate, June 25, 2023, http://www.81.cn/yw_208727/16232983.html.

- 47 Kari A. Bingen et al., *Space Threat Assessment 2023* (Washington, DC: CSIS, April 2023), 11, https://www.csis.org/analysis/space-threat-assessment-2023.
- 48 Andrew Jones, "Classified Chinese Satellite Releases Small Object in Orbit," Space.com, January 24, 2023, https://www.space.com/classified-chinese-satellite-shijian-23-releases-subsatellite.
- 49 Authors' analysis of data from Satellite Dashboard, https://satellitedashboard.org/.
- 50 Authors' analysis of data from Satellite Dashboard, https://satellitedashboard.org/; and Debra Werner, "An In-Orbit Game of Cat and Mouse: Close Approaches Prompt Calls for Communications and Norms," *SpaceNews*, June 16, 2022, https://spacenews.com/an-inorbit-game-of-cat-and-mouse-close-approaches-prompt-calls-for-communications-andnorms/.
- 51 China Aerospace Science and Technology Group, "我国可重复使用试验航天器成功着陆" [Our Country's Reusable Test Spacecraft Successfully Lands], Xinhua News Agency, translated by Google Translate, May 7, 2023, https://mp.weixin.qq.com/s/J25pmNla3ch3SU_tJs cA4Ug.
- 52 Andrew Jones, "China's Spaceplane Conducted Proximity and Capture Maneuvers with Subsatellite, Data Suggests," *SpaceNews*, May 11, 2023, https://spacenews.com/chip nas-spaceplane-conducted-proximity-and-capture-maneuvers-with-subsatellite-data-suggests/.
- 53 "我国成功发射可重复使用试验航天器" [Our Country Successfully Launches Reusable Test Spacecraft], Xinhua News Network, translated by Google Translate, December 14, 2023, https://app.xinhuanet.com/news/article.html?articleId=b9141bb29a221c45ac2ad5 0d44dc87fc6.
- 54 Andrew Jones, "China's Secretive Spaceplane Raises Its Orbit but Yet to Deploy Satellites," *SpaceNews*, January 31, 2024, https://spacenews.com/chinas-secretive-spaceplane-raises-its-orbit-but-yet-to-deploy-satellites/.
- 55 Office of the Director of National Intelligence, *Annual Threat Assessment of the U.S. Intelligence Community* (Washington, DC: Office of the Director of National Intelligence, 2023), 10, https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/assessments/ATA-2023-Unclassified-Report. pdf.
- 56 U.S. Department of Defense, *Space Policy Review and Strategy on Protection of Satellites* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Defense, September 2023), 2, https://media.defense. gov/2023/Sep/14/2003301146/-1/-1/0/COMPREHENSIVE-REPORT-FOR-RELEASE.PDF.
- 57 Adam Thorn, "Qantas Pilots Subject to GPS Jamming from 'Chinese Warships'," Australian Aviation, March 19, 2023, https://australianaviation.com.au/2023/03/qantas-pilots-subjectto-gps-jamming-from-chinese-warships/; and "Communication Interference by Military Warships in the Pacific Region," International Federation of Air Line Pilots' Associations, March 2, 2023, https://www.ifalpa.org/media/3905/23sab03-communication-interfere ence-by-military-warships-in-the-pacific-region.pdf.
- 58 George Shaw, "The Rising Threat to the Integrity of Maritime Navigation Data," *The Maritime Executive*, April 6, 2021, https://maritime-executive.com/editorials/the-risd ing-threat-to-the-integrity-of-maritime-navigation-data.
- 59 Todd Harrison et al., *Space Threat Assessment 2020* (Washington, DC: CSIS, March 2020), 17–18, https://www.csis.org/analysis/space-threat-assessment-2020.
- 60 Ibid.
- 61 National Counterintelligence and Security Center, *Safeguarding the US Space Industry*.
- 62 "Volt Typhoon Targets US Critical Infrastructure with Living-Off-the-Land Techniques," Microsoft Security, May 24, 2023, https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/security/ blog/2023/05/24/volt-typhoon-targets-us-critical-infrastructure-with-living-off-the-land-

techniques/; and David E. Sanger, "Chinese Malware Hits Systems on Guam. Is Taiwan the Real Target?," *New York Times*, May 24, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/05/24/us/poli2 tics/china-guam-malware-cyber-microsoft.html.

- 63 Microsoft Threat Intelligence, *Digital Threats from East Asia Increase in Breadth and Effectiveness* (Redmond, WA: Microsoft, September 2023), 5, https://query.prod.cms.rt.microb soft.com/cms/api/am/binary/RW1aFyW.
- 64 U.S. Defense Intelligence Agency, *Challenges to Security in Space*, 17.
- 65 Andrew Salerno-Garthwaite, "Is China's Korla Laser ASAT Site Hacking Western Satellites?," Army Technology, May 1, 2023, https://www.army-technology.com/features/is-chinas-koro la-laser-asat-site-hacking-western-satellites/?cf-view.
- 66 Kristin Burke, "What Are the PLA's Other Laser Dazzling Facilities?," China Aerospace Studies Institute, June 2023, https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/documents/Res search/Space/2023-06-12%20Where%20are%20the%20PLA's%20other%20satellite%20 dazzling%20facilities.pdf.
- 67 Yue Chen and Chen Yue, "Accelerated US Starlink Threatens Space Security," China Military Online, January 9, 2024, http://eng.chinamil.com.cn/OPINIONS_209196/Opini ions_209197/16279330.html.
- 68 Stephen Chen, "Chinese Physicists Simulate Nuclear Blast against Satellites," *South China Morning Post*, October 20, 2022, https://www.scmp.com/news/china/science/artis cle/3196629/chinese-physicists-simulate-nuclear-blast-against-satellites.
- 69 Office of the Secretary of Defense, *Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China, 2023,* 93; Bill Gertz, "China ASAT Test Part of Growing Space War Threat," *Washington Free Beacon*, February 23, 2018, https://freebeacon.com/national-security/ asat-test-highlights-chinas-growing-space-warfare-capabilities/; and U.S. Department of Defense, Space Policy Review and Strategy on Protection of Satellites, 3.

RUSSIA

- 70 Leonard David, "What Does the Luna-25 Moon Lander Crash Mean for Russia's Lunar Exploration Plans?," Space.com, August 22, 2023, https://www.space.com/russia-luna-25-moon-probe-failure-consequences.
- 71 Elizabeth Howell, "International Space Station Leaks Coolant into Space, but Astronauts Are Not in Danger," Space.com, October 10, 2023, https://www.space.com/internationt al-space-station-astronauts-nauka-ammonia-leak-no-danger.
- 72 Justin Mooney, "Russian Proton-M Launches Olymp-K-2 Military Satellite," NASA Spaceflight, March 12, 2023, https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2023/03/proton-olymp-k-2/; and Chris Bergin (@NASASpaceflight), "Russia's Soyuz 2.1b launches the Arktika-M emote sensing and emergency communication satellite from Site 31 at the Baikonur Cosmodrome in Kazakhstan." X (formerly Twitter), December 16, 2023, 2:47 a.m., https://x.com/NASASpacey flight/status/1735974959120261629.
- 73 Stephen Clark, "Trend or Aberration? Russia Is Launching Foreign Satellites Again," Ars Technica, June 27, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/06/despite-sanctions-russialaunches-satellites-with-ties-to-west/.
- ⁷⁴ "Press Briefing by Press Secretary Karine Jean-Pierre and White House National Security Communications Advisor John Kirby," White House, February 15, 2024, https://www.whitev house.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2024/02/15/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-karine-jean-pierre-and-white-house-national-security-communications-advisor-john-kirby-3/.
- ⁷⁵ Florian Vidal and Roman Privalov, "Russia in Outer Space: A Shrinking Space Power in the Era of Global Change," *Space Policy* (August 2023), doi:10.1016/j.spacepol.2023.101579.
- 76 Michael Kofman et al., Russian Military Strategy: Core Tenets and Operational Concepts (Arlington, VA: Center for Naval Analyses, October 2021), https://www.cna.org/reports/2021/10/Russian-Military%20-Strategy-Core-Tenets-and-Operational-Concepts.pdf.

- 77 Michael Connell, *The Role of Space in Russia's Operations in Ukraine* (Arlington, CA: Center for Naval Analyses, November 2023), https://www.cna.org/reports/2023/11/role-of-space-in-russia-operations-in-ukraine.
- 78 Timothy L. Thomas, Russian Military Thought: Concepts and Elements (McLean, VA: MITRE, August 2019), https://www.mitre.org/sites/default/files/2021-11/prs-19-1004-russian-mili4 tary-thought-concepts-elements.pdf.
- 79 Isabel van Brugen, "Russia Threatens to Shoot Down Western Satellites," *Newsweek*, October 16, 2023, https://www.newsweek.com/russia-shoot-western-satellites-ukrainewar-1835049.
- 80 Michael Kan, "Russia Makes Veiled Threat to Destroy SpaceX's Starlink," *PC Mag*, September 19, 2022, https://www.pcmag.com/news/russia-makes-veiled-threat-to-destroy-spacexs-starlink.
- 81 Elizabeth Howell, "Roscosmos: Russia's Space Agency," Space.com, January 30, 2018, https://www.space.com/22724-roscosmos.html.
- 82 Robert Farley, "Managing the Military Problem of Space: The Case of Russia," *The Diplomat*, April 20, 2021, https://thediplomat.com/2021/04/managing-the-military-problem-of-spacethe-case-of-russia/.
- 83 "Orbital rockets," Space Stats, last modified January 30, 2024, https://spacestatsonline. com/rockets/.
- Ana Swanson, John Ismay, and Edward Wong, "U.S. Technology, a Longtime Tool for Russia, Becomes a Vulnerability," *New York Times*, June 2, 2022, https://www.nytimes. com/2022/06/02/business/economy/russia-weapons-american-technology.html; and "Roscosmos Head Rogozin Proposes Nationalizing Space Microelectronics," Interfax, July 5, 2022, https://interfax.com/newsroom/top-stories/80974/.
- 85 Anatoly Zak, "Russian Communications Satellites," RussianSpaceWeb.com, March 14, 2021, https://russianspaceweb.com/spacecraft_comsats.html.
- 86 Eric Berger, "Putin Wants to Know Why Russia Can Only Build 40 Satellites a Year," Ars Technica, October 30, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/10/russian-space-chief-ex2 plains-why-country-can-only-build-40-satellites-a-year/.
- 87 Eric Ralph, "SpaceX Starlink Factory Building Satellites Four Times Faster Than Closest Competitor," Teslarati, March 12, 2020, https://www.teslarati.com/spacex-starlink-satel/ lite-production-faster-than-competitors/.
- 88 Stephen Clark, "Trend or Aberration? Russia Is Launching Foreign Satellites Again," Ars Technica, June 27, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/06/despite-sanctions-russialaunches-satellites-with-ties-to-west/.
- ⁸⁹ Justin Mooney, "Russian Proton-M Launches Olymp-K-2 Military Satellite," NASA Spaceflight, March 12, 2023, https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2023/03/proton-olymp-k-2/.
- 90 Anatoly Zak, "Soyuz Launches Military Payload," RussianSpaceWeb.com, December 26, 2023, https://russianspaceweb.com/spacecraft-military-soyuz-2-1b-2023-1221.html; and Anatoly Zak, "Second Arktika Satellite Lifts Off," RussianSpaceWeb.com, December 15, 2023, https://russianspaceweb.com/arktika-m2.html.
- 91 Eric Berger, "Russia Talks a Big Future in Space While Its Overall Budget Is Quietly Cut," Ars Technica, October 4, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/10/russia-talks-a-big-fu2 ture-in-space-while-its-overall-budget-is-quietly-cut/.
- 92 Sawyer Rosenstein, "Soyuz-2.1b Launches Gonets Trio and Skif Demo Satellite," NASA Spaceflight, October 22, 2022, https://www.nasaspaceflight.com/2022/10/soyuz-gonetsskif/.
- 93 "Первую высадку космонавтов РФ на Луну запланировали на 2040-2031 годы" [The First Landing of Russian Cosmonauts on the Moon Is Planned for 2040-2031], TASS, translated by Google Translate, November 15, 2023, https://tass.ru/kosmos/19285863.
- 94 Vidal and Privalov, "Russia in Outer Space."
- 95 Florian Vidal, Russia's Space Policy: The Path of Decline? (Paris: French Institute Of Interna-

tional Relations, January 2021), https://www.ifri.org/sites/default/files/atoms/files/vidal_russia_space_policy_2021_.pdf.

- 96 Maxim Starchak, "Russia to Upgrade Moscow's Missile Defenses by Year's End," Defense News, March 29, 2023, https://www.defensenews.com/land/2023/03/29/russia-to-upgrademoscows-missile-defenses-by-years-end/.
- 97 Iderawumi, "Russia Deploys."
- 98 "Press Briefing by White House Press Secretary Karine Jean-Pierre and White House National Security Communications Advisor John Kirby," The White House, February 15, 2024, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/press-briefings/2024/02/15/press-briefing-by-press-secretary-karine-jean-pierre-and-white-house-national-security-communications-advisor-john-kirby-3/.
- 99 Erin Banco, "Biden Admin Was Working behind Closed Doors to Dissuade Russia from Testing Space Weapon," *Politico*, February 20, 2024, https://www.politico.com/ news/2024/02/20/biden-white-house-russia-space-weapon-00142172.
- 100 Reid, "Russian Luch (Olymp) 2 Satellite Approaching Multiple Geo Spacecraft."
- 101 "Key Events," Satellite Dashboard, accessed March 12, 2024, https://satellitedashboard.org/ key-events.
- 102 Theresa Hitchens, "Don't Be Dazzled by Russia's Laser Weapons Claims: Experts," Breaking Defense, May 19, 2022, https://breakingdefense.com/2022/05/dont-be-dazzled-by-russias-laser-weapons-claims-experts/.
- 103 Alex Horton, "Russia Tests Secretive Weapon to Yarget SpaceX's Starlink in Ukraine," *Washington Post*, April 18, 2023, https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-securio ty/2023/04/18/discord-leaks-starlink-ukraine/.
- 104 Valerie Insinna, "SpaceX Beating Russian Jamming Attack Was 'Eyewatering': DoD Official," Breaking Defense, April 20, 2022, https://breakingdefense.com/2022/04/spacex-beati ing-russian-jamming-attack-was-eyewatering-dod-official/.
- 105 Brendan Cole, "NATO Nations Hit by GPS Attack Blamed on Russia," *Newsweek*, March 2, 2024, https://www.newsweek.com/nato-gps-russia-attack-blamed-1875276.
- 106 H. I. Sutton, "Russia's Powerful Invisible Defenses around Sevastopol Rendered Visible," *Naval News*, November 28, 3023, https://www.navalnews.com/naval-news/2023/11/rusa sias-powerful-invisible-defenses-around-sevastopol-rendered-visible/.
- 107 Dylan Malyasov, "Russia Is Jamming European Space Agency's Sentinel Satellite?," Defence Blog, July 25, 2021, https://defence-blog.com/russia-is-jamming-european-space-ageng cys-sentinel-satellite/.
- 108 "Sevastopol Bay under Such Heavy Russian EW Cover It's Visible From Space," Defense Express, November 28, 2023, https://en.defence-ua.com/weapon_and_tech/sevastopol_ bay_under_such_heavy_russian_ew_cover_its_visible_from_space-8704.html.
- 109 Theresa Hitchens, "LeoLabs: Russia, China Time Suspicious Space Activity for Some US Holidays," Breaking Defense, December 12, 2023, https://breakingdefense.com/2023/12/ leolabs-russia-china-time-suspicious-space-activity-for-some-us-holidays/.
- 110 Sandra Erwin, "LeoLabs Data Shows on-Orbit Maneuvers by Russian Satellites," *Space-News*, November 6, 2023, https://spacenews.com/leolabs-data-shows-on-orbit-maneus vers-by-russian-satellites/.
- 111 Mike Wall, "Mysterious Russian Satellite Breaks Up in Orbit, Generating Cloud of Debris," Space.com, February 7, 2023, https://www.space.com/russian-satellite-kos/ mos-2499-breakup-earth-orbit.
- 112 Jasper Hamill, "A Top-Secret Russian Military Satellite Has 'Exploded in Space', Astronomer Says," *Metro*, January 14, 2020, https://metro.co.uk/2020/01/14/top-secret-russian-mili-tary-satellite-exploded-space-astronomer-says-12054460/.
- 113 LeoLabs (@LeoLabs_Space), "ATTN P Our *Preliminary* Analysis of the Cosmos 2499 Fragmentation Event (using LeoLabs LeoRisk) Points toward a Low Intensity Explosion with Moderate Confidence. #SpaceDebris," X (formerly Twitter), February 8, 2023, 10:23 a.m.,

https://twitter.com/LeoLabs_Space/status/1623387025725353985.

- 114 Ibid.
- 115 Terry Wilcutt and Hal Bell, "The Cost of Silence: Normalization of Deviance and Groupthink," NASA, November 13, 2014, https://sma.nasa.gov/docs/default-source/safety-meso sages/safetymessage-normalizationofdeviance-2014-11-03b.pdf?sfvrsn=c5421ef8_4.
- 116 Emily Harding, "The United States Needs a New Way to Think about Cyber," Lawfare, January 28, 2024, https://www.lawfaremedia.org/article/the-united-states-needs-a-new-way-tothink-about-cyber.
- 117 Microsoft Security, *Microsoft Digital Defense Report 2023* (Redmond, WA: Microsoft, October 2023), https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/security/security-insider/microsoft-digital-dei fense-report-2023.
- 118 Ibid.
- 119 National Counterintelligence and Security Center, *Safeguarding the US Space Industry*.
- 120 Joseph Gedeon, "For the First Time, U.S. Government Lets Hackers into Satellite in Space," Politico, August 11, 2023, https://www.politico.com/news/2023/08/11/def-con-hackersspace-force-00110919.
- 121 Daniel Pereia, "New Hacking Group Takes Down Russian Telecom Satellite in Support of Prigozhin's Wagner Group," OODA Loop, June 30, 2023, https://www.oodaloop.com/arO chive/2023/06/30/new-hacking-group-takes-down-russian-telecom-satellite-in-support-ofprigozhins-wagner-group/.
- 122 "Thrip: Espionage Group Hits Satellite, Telecoms, and Defense Companies," Symantec, June 19, 2018, https://symantec-enterprise-blogs.security.com/blogs/threat-intelligence/ thrip-hits-satellite-telecoms-defense-targets.
- 123 "RedHotel: A Prolific, Chinese State-Sponsored Group Operating at a Global Scale," Recorded Future, August 8, 2023, https://go.recordedfuture.com/hubfs/reports/cta-2023-0808.pdf.
- 124 Microsoft Security, Microsoft Digital Defense Report 2023.
- 125 Zeba Siddiqui and Christopher Bing, "Chinese Hackers Spying on US Critical Infrastructure, Western Intelligence Says," Reuters, May 25, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/technology/ microsoft-says-china-backed-hacker-targeted-critical-us-infrastructure-2023-05-24/.
- 126 "Volt Typhoon," Microsoft Security.
- 127 W.J. Hennigan, "Russian Spacecraft Tailing U.S. Spy Satellite, General Says," *Time*, February 10, 2020, https://time.com/5779315/russian-spacecraft-spy-satellite-space-force/.
- 128 Jonathan McDowell (@planet4589), "I have recalculated the ejection velocity of the Kosmos-2543 projectile. The delta-V between Kosmos-2543 and object 45915 is somewhere between 140 m/s and 186 m/s," X (formerly Twitter), July 24, 2020, 6:10 p.m., https://x.com/ planet4589/status/1286831091857403904?s=20.
- 129 Matthew Mowthorpe, "The Russian Space Threat and a Defense against It with Guardian Satellites," The Space Review, June 12, 2022, https://www.thespacereview.com/arti-cle/4401/1.
- 130 Brett Tingley, "Pentagon Condemns 'Irresponsible' Launch of Russian Satellite," Space.com, August 18, 2022, https://www.space.com/russia-inspector-satellite-kosmos-2558-irresponm sible-behavior.
- 131 Matthew Mowthorpe and Markos Trichas, "A Review of Chinese Counterspace Activities," The Space Review, August 1, 2022, https://www.thespacereview.com/article/4431/1.
- 132 Brian Benchoff, "A Teardown of Something You Should Not Own," Hackaday, December 1, 2017, https://hackaday.com/tag/gps-jammer/.
- 133 "GPS/GNSS Interference Map," GPSJAM, accessed February 22, 2024, https://gpsjam.org/.
- 134 Eric Tegler, "GPS Spoofing Is Now Affecting Airplanes in Parts Of Europe," *Forbes*, January 31, 2024, https://www.forbes.com/sites/erictegler/2024/01/31/gps-spoofing-is-now-affect-ing-airplanes-in-parts-of-europe/.
- 135 "FAA Warning Issued, Further Serious Navigation Failures Reported," OPSGROUP, Septem-

ber 28, 2023, https://ops.group/blog/faa-warning-navigation-failures/.

- 136 Dana Goward, "As Baltics See Spike in GPS Jamming, NATO Must Respond," Breaking Defense, January 31, 2024, https://breakingdefense.com/2024/01/as-baltics-see-spike-in-gpsjamming-nato-must-respond/.
- 137 Matt Berg, "Israel's Using Widespread GPS Tampering to Deter Hezbollah's Missiles," *Politico*, October 23, 2023, https://www.politico.com/news/2023/10/23/israels-gps-tamper3 ing-deter-hezbollahs-missiles-00123026.
- 138 Denrie Perez, "New FAA Files Reveal Private Aircrafts Affected by U.S. Military's GPS Jamming during Tests," Engineering.com, February 1, 2021, https://www.engineering.com/ story/new-faa-files-reveal-private-aircrafts-affected-by-us-militarys-gps-jamming-duringtests.

INDIA

- 139 Kari A. Bingen, "Another Leap Forward: India's Historic Moon Landing and the Space Competition Underway," CSIS, *Critical Questions*, August 30, 2023, https://www.csis.org/analy/ sis/another-leap-forward-indias-historic-moon-landing-and-space-competition-underway.
- 140 "Orbital Launches in 2023," Space Stats, last modified January 30, 2024, https://spacestatsonline.com/launches/year/2023.
- 141 Stephen Clark, "India's Accomplishments in Space Are Getting More Impressive," Ars Technica, August 31, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/08/where-does-indias-spaceprogram-rank-among-global-powers/; and Claire A. O'Shea, "NASA Welcomes India as 27th Artemis Accords Signatory," NASA, June 23, 2023, https://www.nasa.gov/news-release/ nasa-welcomes-india-as-27th-artemis-accords-signatory/.
- 142 Anuttama Banerji, "The Slow Militarization of India's Space Sector," *The Diplomat*, September 23, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/09/the-slow-militarization-of-india as-space-sector/.
- 143 Amrita Nayak Dutta, "India to Bring in a National Security Strategy: What Is It, Why Is It Important?," *Indian Express*, November 6, 2023, https://indianexpress.com/article/explained/ india-to-bring-in-a-national-security-strategy-what-is-it-why-is-it-important-9014489/; and Manvendra Singh, "India Needs a Military-Space Doctrine, Must Bet Big on Private Sector Firms," *The Print*, April 13, 2023, https://theprint.in/opinion/india-needs-a-military-spacedoctrine-must-bet-big-on-private-sector-firms/1515449/.
- 144 Headquarters Integrated Defence Staff, *Joint Doctrine of the Indian Armed Forces* (New Delhi: Ministry of Defence, 2017), 26, https://bharatshakti.in/wp-content/uploads/2015/09/ Joint_Doctrine_Indian_Armed_Forces.pdf.
- 145 Gordon Arthur, "India Plans to Spend \$3 Billion on Space. Can It Catch Ip to China?," Defense News, March 6, 2023, https://www.defensenews.com/space/2024/03/06/india-plansto-spend-3-billion-on-space-can-it-catch-up-to-china/.
- 146 Ibid; and "Military Satellites by Country 2024," World Population Review, accessed March 12, 2024, https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/military-satellite-by-count try.
- 147 "Defence Space Research Agency: Modi Govt Approves New Body to Develop Space Warfare Weapon Systems," *India Today*, last modified June 11, 2019, https://www.indiatoday.in/ india/story/defence-space-research-agency-modi-govt-approves-new-body-to-developspace-warfare-weapon-systems-1546951-2019-06-11.
- 148 "Agencies Take Shape for Special Operations, Space, Cyber War," *Times of India*, last modified May 16, 2019, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/india-begins-settingup-new-tri-service-agencies-to-handle-special-operations-space-and-cyberspace/articleshow/69346012.cms.
- 149 "About DRDO," Defence Research and Development Organisation, last modified October 27, 2023, https://drdo.gov.in/drdo/about-drdo.
- 150 Ashley J. Tellis, "India's ASAT Test: An Incomplete Success," Carnegie Endowment for

International Peace, April 15, 2019, https://carnegieendowment.org/2019/04/15/indias-asat-test-incomplete-success-pub-78884; and "Mission Shakti," Defence Research and Development Organisation, last modified October 11, 2023, https://drdo.gov.in/drdo/miss sion-shakti.

- 151 Bhuvan Krishna, "Space Vision 2047: IAF Unveils Ambitious Plans to Become Air And Space Power, Here's All About It," *Swarajya*, last modified December 14, 2023, https://swarae jyamag.com/defence/space-vision-2047-iaf-unveils-ambitious-plans-to-become-air-andspace-power-heres-all-about-it.
- 152 Namrata Goswami, "India's Space Program in 2023: Taking Stock," *The Diplomat*, December 27, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/12/indias-space-program-in-2023-taking-stock/.
- 153 "Frequently Asked Questions on Mission Shakti, India's Anti-satellite Missile Test Conducted on 27 March, 2019," Ministry of External Affairs, Government of India, March 27, 2019, https://www.mea.gov.in/press-releases.htm?dtl/31179/Frequently_Asked_Questions_on_ Mission_Shakti_Indias_AntiSatellite_Mis-sile_test_conducted_on_27_March_2019.
- 154 Paul D. Shinkman, "U.S. Intel Helped India Rout China in 2022 Border Clash: Sources," U.S. News, March 20, 2023, https://www.usnews.com/news/world-report/articles/2023-03-20/u-s-intel-helped-india-rout-china-in-2022-border-clash-sources.
- 155 Shishir Gupta, "India, France Sign Pact to Jointly Develop, Launch Military Satellites," *Hindustan Times*, January 28, 2024, https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/indiac france-to-mutually-launch-military-satellites-101706406900408.html.
- 156 "About ISRO," Indian Space Research Organisation, accessed February 20, 2024, https://www.isro.gov.in/profile.html.
- 157 "India Space Policy 2023," Indian Space Research Organisation, April 20, 2023, 9, https://www.isro.gov.in/media_isro/pdf/IndianSpacePolicy2023.pdf.
- 158 Ibid.
- 159 Ibid.
- 160 "Mission DefSpace: India Launches 75 Defence Space Challenges for Indigenous Development," India CSR, December 9, 2022, https://indiacsr.in/mission-defspace-india-launche es-75-defence-space-challenges-for-indigenous-development/.
- 161 Andrew Jones, "India Sets Sights on a Moon Base by 2047," Space.com, December 7, 2023, https://www.space.com/india-moon-base-2047.
- 162 "Orbital launches in 2023," Space Stats.
- 163 Kedy, "ISRO: India's Leading Space Agency's Complete List of Launchers," Military View, July 14, 2023, https://militaryview.com/isro-indias-leading-space-agencys-complete-list-oflaunchers/.
- 164 "NSIL/ISRO and OneWeb to Collaborate for Taking Digital Connectivity to Every Corner of the World," Eutelsat OneWeb, October 11, 2021, https://oneweb.net/resources/nsiliso ro-and-oneweb-collaborate-taking-digital-connectivity-every-corner-world; and "LVM3-M3 / OneWeb India-2 Mission," Indian Space Research Organization, March 26, 2023, https:// www.isro.gov.in/LVM3M3MissionLandingPage.html.
- 165 Sharmila Kuthunur, "India Lands Reusable Space Plane Prototype for 1st Time (video)," Space.com, April 5, 2023, https://www.space.com/india-space-plane-landing-test-success.
- 166 Mujib Mashal, "India's Moon Landing Offers Blueprint For Other Countries Dreaming Big," *New York Times*, August 24, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/08/24/world/asia/indiachandrayaan-3-moon-landing-space.html.
- 167 Namrata Goswami, "India's Space Program in 2023: Taking Stock," *The Diplomat*, December 27, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/12/indias-space-program-in-2023-taking-stock/.
- 168 Andrew Jones, "India Targets Uncrewed Gaganyaan Orbital Test Mission in July, Crewed Flight in 2025," *SpaceNews*, February 29, 2024, https://spacenews.com/india-targets-uncrewed-gaganyaan-orbital-test-mission-in-july-crewed-flight-in-2025/.
- 169 Gunter D. Krebs, "Satellites of India," Gunter's Space Page, accessed March 7, 2024, https:// space.skyrocket.de/directories/sat_c_india.htm; and "UCS Satellite Database," Union of

Concerned Scientists, last modified May 1, 2023, https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/sately lite-database.

- ¹⁷⁰ "India's Military Communication Satellites: The Backbone of Modern Warfare," Indian Aerospace and Defence Bulletin, May 14, 2023, https://warontherocks.com/2023/11/is-militaryspace-based-jamming-normal-some-worry-it-is/.
- 171 Christopher McFadden, "China on Watch? Elon Musk's SpaceX to Launch India's 1st Spy Satellite," Interesting Engineering, February 20, 2024, https://interestingengineering.com/ military/indias-1st-spy-satellite.
- 172 Sagar Kulkarni, "ISRO Eyes Bigger Share in Global Satellite Launch Sector," *Economic Times*, *Satcom*, last modified October 24, 2022, https://telecom.economictimes.indiatimes.com/ news/isro-eyes-bigger-share-in-global-satellite-launch-sector/95057273.
- 173 Alex Travelli, "India's Space Business Is Catching Up Fast," *New York Times*, July 4, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/07/04/business/india-space-startups.html.
- 174 Ibid.
- 175 Gordon Arthur, "India Plans to Spend \$3 Billion on Space. Can It Catch Up to China?," Defense News, March 6, 2023, https://www.defensenews.com/space/2024/03/06/india-plansto-spend-3-billion-on-space-can-it-catch-up-to-china/.
- 176 Ranjit Pandit, "Satellite-Killer Not a One-Off, India Working on Star Wars Armory," *Times of India*, April 7, 2019, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/satellite-killer-not-a-one-off-india-working-on-star-wars-armoury/articleshow/68758674.cms.

IRAN

- 177 Brett Tingley, "Iran Launches 3 Satellites on Simorgh Rocket's 1st Successful Orbital Launch," Space.com, January 29, 2024, https://www.space.com/iran-satellite-launch: es-middle-east-conflicts-january-2024; and "Iran Successfully Launches Sorayya Satellite, State Media Report," Reuters, January 20, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/world/midu dle-east/iran-successfully-launches-sorayya-satellite-iranian-media-2024-01-20/.
- 178 Elwely Elwelly, "Iran Says It Launched Noor 3 Satellite into Orbit," Reuters, September 27, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/iran-says-it-successfully-launched-nour-3-satellite-tasnim-2023-09-27/.
- 179 Andrew Jones, "Iran Launches 'Bio-Space Capsule' Protoype, Aims to Fly Astronauts by 2030," Space.com, December 6, 2023, https://www.space.com/iran-bio-capsule-rocket-launch.
- 180 Jim Lamson and Jeffrey Lewis, "Iranian President Raisi's Renewed Emphasis on Space Is Likely to Create New Tensions," War on the Rocks, December 20, 2021, https://warontheroe cks.com/2021/12/iranian-president-raisis-renewed-emphasis-on-space-is-likely-to-createnew-tensions/.
- 181 Ibid.
- 182 Office of the Director of National Intelligence, Annual Threat Assessment, 18.
- 183 "Iran Takes 1st Step for Implementing 10-Year Space Plan," Islamic Republic News Agency, January 7, 2023, https://en.irna.ir/news/84991863/Iran-takes-1st-step-for-implementing-10-year-space-plan.
- 184 Ibid.
- 185 "Iran Plans Talks with Russia to Build New Satellite Report," TASS, October 5, 2023, https://tass.com/science/1684837; Andrew Jones, "Iran Is Seeking Russian Assistance for a New Spy Satellite: Reports," Space.com, October 10, 2023, https://www.space.com/iran-rusp sia-help-khayyam-spy-satellite; and "Operational Stage of Gen. Soleimani Satellite Project Launched," *Tehran Times*, January 22, 2023, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/481145/ Operational-stage-of-Gen-Soleimani-satellite-project-launched.
- 186 "Иран пообещал отправить человека в космос" [Iran Has Promised to Send a Man into Space], Lenta.ru, translated by Google Translate, October 4, 2023, https://lenta.ru/

news/2023/10/04/iran2/.

- 187 Vali Kaleji, "Why Iran-Russia Space Collaboration Is Reaching New Heights," Amwaj.media, February 26, 2023, https://amwaj.media/article/why-iran-russia-space-collaboration-isreaching-new-heights.
- 188 "Iran Plans Talks with Russia to Build New Satellite Report," TASS.
- 189 "Iran, Russia Working on Joint Research Spacecraft," Tasnim News Agency, September 10, 2023, https://www.tasnimnews.com/en/news/2023/09/10/2954270/iran-russia-working-onjoint-research-spacecraft.
- 190 "Iran Space Research Center," Iran Watch, October 31, 2019, last modified April 25, 2023, https://www.iranwatch.org/iranian-entities/iran-space-research-center.
- 191 John Krzyzaniak, "Part 1: Explainer Iran's Space Program," United States Institute of Peace, *The Iran Primer,* August 9, 2022, https://iranprimer.usip.org/blog/2022/jun/03/explain2 er-irans-space-program.
- 192 "Iran's Defense Ministry Advances 'Sarir' Satellite Launcher for Space Exploration Program," *Tehran Times,* December 13, 2023, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/492525/Iran-s-Dee fense-Ministry-advances-Sarir-satellite-launcher-for.
- 193 "Iran Ballistic Missile Procurement Advisory," U.S. Department of State, October 18, 2023, https://www.state.gov/iran-ballistic-missile-procurement-advisory/.
- 194 Michael Elleman, "The IRGC gets into the space-launch business," International Institute of Strategic Studies, May 1, 2020, https://www.iiss.org/online-analysis/online-analys sis/2020/05/iran-military-satellite-launch-irgc/.
- 195 John Krzyzaniak, "Iran's Military Space Program Picks Up Speed," New Lines Institute, October 28, 2021, https://newlinesinstitute.org/future-frontiers/outer-space/irans-militaryspace-program-picks-up-speed/.
- 196 "Iran's Upcoming Satellite Launch: A New Space Endeavor," *Al Mayadeen*, September 2, 2023, https://english.almayadeen.net/news/technology/irans-upcoming-satellite-launch:-a-new-space-endeavor.
- 197 Jon Gambrell, "US Quietly Acknowledges Iran Satellite Successfully Reached Orbit as Tensions Remain High," Associated Press, September 29, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/ iran-satellite-launch-revolutionary-guard-07cee712fa0f726d54a6f69921e5d027; and Wall, "Iran launches 3rd military satellite to orbit."
- 198 Gambrell, "US Quietly Acknowledges Iran Satellite Successfully Reached Orbit as Tensions Remain High."
- 199 Rizwan Choudhury, "Iran Says It Launched a Research Satellite into Orbit with Solid-Fuel Rocket," Interesting Engineering, January 21, 2024, https://interestingengineering.com/ military/iran-says-it-launched-a-research-satellite-into-orbit-with-solid-fuel-rocket; "Iran Sets New Space Launch Record with New Soraya Satellite," *Al Mayadeen*, January 20, 2024, https://english.almayadeen.net/news/technology/iran-sets-new-space-launch-ren cord-with-new-soraya-satellite; and Jon Gambrell, "Iran Launches Satellite That Is Part of a Western-Criticized Program as Regional Tensions Spike," Associated Press, January 20, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/iran-satellite-launch-mideast-tensions-israel-palestinie ans-gaza-b2d8d654c24cf588acaa8228229a0415.
- 200 Choudhury, "Iran Says It Launched a Research Satellite into Orbit with Solid-Fuel Rocket."
- 201 "Iran Launches 3 Satellites into Space as Tensions Rise," NPR, January 28, 2024, https://www.npr.org/2024/01/28/1227439493/iran-launches-three-satellites-into-space-as-tensions-rise.
- 202 Jack Kuhr, "Iran Launches Bio-Capsule to Space," Payload, December 7, 2023, https://paye loadspace.com/iran-launches-bio-capsule-to-space/.
- 203 "New Homegrown Earth Observation Satellite Delivered to Iranian Space Agency," *Tehran Times*, September 3, 2023, https://www.tehrantimes.com/news/488685/New-home/grown-Earth-observation-satellite-delivered-to-Iranian.
- 204 Anatoly Zak, "Soyuz Launches a Weather Satellite and 18 Hitchhikers," RussianSpaceWeb.

com, February 29, 2024, https://www.russianspaceweb.com/meteor-m2-4.html.

- 205 Ibid.
- 206 "Iran's Defense Ministry Advances 'Sarir' Satellite Launcher for Space Exploration Program," *Tehran Times*.
- 207 "Иран разработает ракету для запуска геостационарных спутников" [Iran Will Develop a Rocket to Launch Geostationary Satellites]," Lenta.ru, translated by Google Translate, October 4, 2023, https://lenta.ru/news/2023/10/04/iran3/.
- 208 "Chabahar Space Center Offers Promising Opportunities for Space Launches in Region," Tasnim News Agency, October 14, 2023, https://www.tasnimnews.com/en/ news/2023/10/14/2971692/chabahar-space-center-offers-promising-opportunities-for-space-launches-in-region; "Iran's Defense Ministry Advances 'Sarir' Satellite Launcher for Space Exploration Program," *Tehran Times*; and "Iran to Complete First Phase of Chabahar National Launch Base in A Year," Tasnim News Agency, September 14, 2023, https://www.tasnimnews.com/en/news/2023/09/14/2956318/iran-to-complete-first-phaseof-chabahar-national-launch-base-in-a-year.
- 209 Ronen Bergman, Aaron Krolik, and Paul Mozur, "In Cyberattacks, Iran Shows Signs of Improved Hacking Capabilities," *New York Times*, October 31, 2023, https://www.nytimes. com/2023/10/31/world/middleeast/iran-israel-cyberattacks.html.
- 210 Borzou Daragahi, "Iran Is Using Its Cyber Capabilities to Kidnap Its Foes in the Real World," Atlantic Council, May 24, 2023, https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/iransource/iran-cyc ber-warfare-kidnappings/.
- 211 Sean Lyngaas, "Iranian Hackers Target Secrets Held by Defense, Satellite and Pharmaceutical firms, Microsoft says," CNN, September 14, 2023, https://www.cnn.com/2023/09/14/ politics/iran-hackers-microsoft-report/index.html.
- 212 Mark Holmes, "10 Defining Moments in Cybersecurity and Satellite in 2023," Via Satellite, January 22, 2024, https://interactive.satellitetoday.com/via/january-february-2024/10-dee fining-moments-in-cybersecurity-and-satellite-in-2023/.
- 213 Missy Ryan, John Hudson, and Abigail Hauslohner, "As Houthis Vow to Fight on, U.S. Prepares for Sustained Campaign," *Washington Post*, January 20, 2024, https://www.washingtonpost.com/national-security/2024/01/20/us-military-yemen-houthis/.
- 214 Frud Bezhan, "Iranian Satellite Jamming Causes Storm of Controversy," Radio Free Europe/Radio Liberty, July 23, 2014, https://www.rferl.org/a/iran-jamming-controverw sy-storm/25467735.html; and Peter B. de Selding, "France Seeks ITU Help To Halt Satellite Signal Jamming by Iran," SpaceNews, January 10, 2010, https://spacenews.com/franceseeks-itu-help-halt-satellite-signal-jamming-iran/.
- 215 "Iran Holds Large-Scale Electronic Warfare Exercise," The Defense Post, August 28, 2023, https://www.thedefensepost.com/2023/08/28/iran-electronic-warfare-exercise/; and "Модуль помех 'Красуха-4' прикрыл авиабазу в Сирии от радаров E-8 JSTARS и спутников разведки" [The 'Krasukha-4' jamming system covered the airbase in Syria from E-8 JSTARS radars and reconnaissance satellites], Vestnk, November 11, 2015, https://vesta nik-rm.ru/news/oborona-i-bezopasnost/modul-pomeh-krasuha-4-prikryl-aviabazu-v-siriiot-radarov-e-8-jstars-i-sputnikov-razvedki/.
- 216 Steve Ragan, "Reports Say U.S. Drone Was Hijacked by Iran through GPS Spoofing," SecurityWeek, December 18, 2011, https://www.securityweek.com/reports-say-us-drone-was-hie jacked-iran-through-gps-spoofing/.
- 217 Joshua Kupietzky, "Why 20 Aircraft Went Off Course over Iraqi Airspace," Simple Flying, October 1, 2023, https://simpleflying.com/20-aircraft-went-off-course-iranian-airspace/; and Matthew Gault, "Commercial Flights Are Experiencing 'Unthinkable' GPS Attacks and Nobody Knows What to Do," Vice, November 20, 2023, https://www.vice.com/en/article/ m7bk3v/commercial-flights-are-experiencing-unthinkable-gps-attacks-and-nobodyknows-what-to-do.
- 218 Gault, "Commercial Flights Are Experiencing 'Unthinkable' GPS Attacks."
- 219 Ibid.

NORTH KOREA

- 220 Ji Da-gyum, "N. Korea's Parliament Revises Outer Space Law, Plans Key Meeting before Foundation Day," *Korea Herald*, August 8, 2022, https://www.koreaherald.com/view. php?ud=20220808000587.
- 221 "National Aerospace Development Administration of DPRK," KCNA Watch, March 31, 2014, https://kcnawatch.org/newstream/1451896547-322797882/national-aerospace-development-administration-of-dprk/; and Robert Pearlman, "National Aerospace Development Administration of DPRK," CollectSPACE, April 1, 2014, http://www.collectspace.com/northP korea_nadalogo.
- 222 "N Korea's Kim Sets New Military Goals for 2023 at Party Meeting," Al Jazeera, December 28, 2022, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/12/28/n-koreas-kim-sets-new-military-goals-for-2023-at-party-meeting.
- 223 Note: Formerly the National Aerospace Development Administration (NADA), from inception in 2013 until reorganization and renaming in 2023. See "9th Session of 14th SPA of DPRK Held," KCNA Watch, September 28, 2023, https://kcnawatch.org/newstream/1696034769-142094599/9th-session-of-14th-spa-of-dprk-held/; Seulkee Jang, "N. Korea Completes Rep organization of National Aerospace Technology Administration," Daily NK, October 20, 2023, https://www.dailynk.com/english/north-korea-completes-reorganization-national-aerospace-technology-administration/; and "National Aerospace Development Administration of DPRK," KCNA Watch.
- 224 Jang, "N. Korea Completes Reorganization of National Aerospace Technology Administration."
- 225 Choe Sang-Hun, "North Korea Launches Rocket with Its First Spy Satellite," *New York Times*, November 21, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/11/21/world/asia/north-korea-russiarocket-launch-spy-satellite.html.
- 226 Ibid.
- 227 Stephen Clark, "North Korea Launched a Satellite, Then Apparently Blew Up Its Booster," Ars Technica, November 22, 2023, https://arstechnica.com/space/2023/11/north-korealaunched-a-satellite-then-apparently-blew-up-its-booster/.
- 228 Justin McCurry, "North Korea's Spy Satellite Is a Big Deal, Regardless of How Advanced Its Technology Is," *The Guardian*, November 22, 2023, https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2023/nov/22/north-korea-spy-satellite-malligyong-1-pyongyang-kim-jong-un.
- 229 Hyonhee Shin, "Explainer: What Is Solid-Fuel Technology, and Why Is North Korea Eager to Develop It?," Reuters, April 14, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/business/aerospace-dep fense/what-is-solid-fuel-technology-why-is-north-korea-eager-develop-it-2023-04-14/.
- 230 Chae Yun-hwan, "(4th LD) N. Korea to Launch 3 More Military Spy Satellites, Build More Nukes Next year: State Media," Yonhap News Agency, December 31, 2023, https://en.yna. co.kr/view/AEN20231231000654315.
- 231 Joseph S. Bermudez Jr., Victor Cha, and Jennifer Jun, "New Launch Pad and Significant Expansion Underway at the Sohae Satellite Launching Station," *Beyond Parallel*, CSIS, May 26, 2023, https://beyondparallel.csis.org/new-launch-pad-and-significant-expansion-unp derway-at-the-sohae-satellite-launching-station/.
- 232 "Global Counterspace Capabilities Report 2023," Secure World Foundation, April 14, 2023, https://swfound.org/media/207541/swf_global_counterspace_capabilities_2023_es_ en.pdf.
- 233 Raphael Satter, "North Korea Hackers Going after Russian Targets, Microsoft says," Reuters, September 7, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/technology/north-korea-hackers-going-afe ter-russian-targets-microsoft-says-2023-09-07/; Gawon Bae, Emi Jozuka, and Brad Lendon, "North Korea Launches at Least Two Unidentified Ballistic Missile into Waters Off Eastern Korean Peninsula," CNN, last modified March 26, 2023, https://www.cnn.com/2023/03/26/ world/north-korea-launches-ballistic-missile/index.html.
- 234 Office of the Director of National Intelligence, *Annual Threat Assessment*, 21.

235 Jeongmin Kim and Joon Ha Park, "North Korea Tried to Jam US-ROK Navigation System during Drills, Seoul Says," NK News, March 8, 2024, https://www.nknews.org/2024/03/ north-korea-tried-to-jam-us-rok-navigation-system-during-drills-seoul-says/.

OTHERS

- 236 Secretary of the Air Force Public Affairs, "US, UK, Australia Announce Trilateral Deep Space Advanced Radar Capability Initiative," U.S. Space Force, December 2, 2023, https://www. spaceforce.mil/News/Article-Display/Article/3604036/us-uk-australia-announce-trilateral-deep-space-advanced-radar-capability-initia/.
- 237 "Fact Sheet: Delivering on the Next Generation of Innovation and Partnership with Australia," The White House, October 25, 2023, https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/ statements-releases/2023/10/25/fact-sheet-delivering-on-the-next-generation-of-innovation-and-partnership-with-australia/.
- 238 "Australia's Largest Private Satellite Reaches Orbit," Australian Space Agency, March 5, 2024, https://www.space.gov.au/news-and-media/australias-largest-private-satellite-reaches-orbit.
- Jack Kuhr, "2023 Orbital Launches, by Country," Payload, January 4, 2024, https://payload3 space.com/2023-orbital-launches-by-country/; Jonathan McDowell, "Space Activities in 2023," Jonathan's Space Report, Rev 1.4, January 15, 2024, https://planet4589.org/space/ papers/space23.pdf; Jeff Foust, "ESA Sets Mid-2024 Date for First Ariane 6 Launch," *Space-News*, November 30, 2023, https://spacenews.com/esa-sets-mid-2024-date-for-first-ariane-6-launch/; and "Goodbye, Ariane 6 Test Model," European Space Agency, February 14, 2024, https://www.esa.int/Enabling_Support/Space_Transportation/Ariane/Goodbye_Ariane_6_ test_model.
- 240 John Hill, "Frenched Armed Forces Launches Syracuse 4B Satellite for Communications," Airforce Technology, July 7, 2023, https://www.airforce-technology.com/news/frencharmed-forces-launches-4b-satellite-as-part-of-its-milsatcom/.
- 241 Ministère des Armées [Ministry of the Armed Forces], *LPM 2024-2030: Les grandes orientations* [LPM 2024-2030: The Major Directions] (Paris: Government of France, 2023), 9–10, https://www.defense.gouv.fr/sites/default/files/ministere-armees/Livret%20de%20 pr%C3%A9sentation%20de%20la%20Loi%20de%20programmation%20militaire%202024-2030%20%286%20avril%202023%29.pdf.
- 242 Ibid., 10; and Vivienne Machi, "Macron Sends \$438 Billion Military Budget Plan to French Parliament," DefenseNews, April 4, 2023, https://www.defensenews.com/global/eu2 rope/2023/04/04/macron-sends-438-billion-military-budget-plan-to-french-parliament/.
- 243 Laura Garrigou, "Avec Ares, la DGA prépare notre maîtrise de l'espace [With Ares, the DGA Is Preparing Our Mastery of Space]," *Esprit défense n° 9*, October 26, 2023, 44, https://www.de2 fense.gouv.fr/comment-france-se-prepare-conflit-spatial/ares-dga-prepare-notre-maitriselespace.
- 244 Ibid.
- 245 Emanuel Fabian, "Israel Launches New Ofek-13 Spy Satellite into Orbit," *Times of Israel*, March 29, 2023, https://www.timesofisrael.com/israel-launches-new-ofek-13-spy-satelliteinto-orbit/.
- ²⁴⁶ "NASA to Launch Israel's First Space Telescope," NASA, February 21, 2023, https://www. nasa.gov/general/nasa-to-launch-israels-first-space-telescope/.
- 247 "Hamas Israel War: Real-Time Official IDF Updates," Israel Defense Forces, accessed on February 23, 2024, https://www.idf.il/en/mini-sites/hamas-israel-war-24/real-time-upw dates/.
- 248 Matt Berg, "Israel's Using Widespread GPS Tampering to Deter Hezbollah's Missiles," *Politico*, October 23, 2023, https://www.politico.com/news/2023/10/23/israels-gps-tamper3 ing-deter-hezbollahs-missiles-00123026.
- 249 Eric Tegler, "GPS Spoofing in the Middle East Is Now Capturing Avionics," *Forbes*, December 5, 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/erictegler/2023/12/05/gps-spoofing-in-the-middle-

east-is-now-capturing-avionics/.

- 250 Rizwan Choudhury, "Iron Beam: Israel's Cutting-Edge Laser System to Join Combat Service Soon," Interesting Engineering, October 15, 2023, https://interestingengineering.com/military/israels-iron-beam-laser-weapon-may-join-combat-service-soon.
- 251 Harriet Barber, "How Israel Shot Down a Ballistic Missile in Space for the First Time," *The Telegraph*, November 5, 2023, https://www.telegraph.co.uk/world-news/2023/11/04/how-israel-shot-down-ballistic-missile-in-space-houthis/; and George Dvorsky, "Humanity Just Witnessed Its First Space Battle," Gizmodo, November 7, 2023, https://gizmodo.com/israel-houthi-missile-first-battle-in-space-1850999081.
- 252 Dvorsky, "Humanity Just Witnessed Its First Space Battle"; Ralph Savelsberg, "Analysis: Houthi Targeting of Israel Suggests New, Longer-Range Missile in Play," Breaking Defense, December 13, 2023, https://breakingdefense.com/2023/12/analysis-houthi-targeting-ofisrael-suggests-new-longer-range-missile-in-play/; Kyle Mizokami and Sébastien Roblin, "This Groundbreaking Ballistic Missile Intercept Was Also the First Combat in Space," *Popular Mechanics*, November 17, 2023, https://www.popularmechanics.com/military/ weapons/a45862545/first-combat-in-space/; Eric Tegler, "What Are the Missiles the Houc this Have Fired at Israel?," *Forbes*, November 10, 2023, https://www.forbes.com/sites/ erictegler/2023/11/10/what-are-the-missiles-the-houthis-have-fired-at-israel/; and Mike Corbett, "A New Approach to Ballistic Missile Defense for Countering Antiaccess/Area-Denial Threats from Precision-Guided Weapons," *Air and Space Power Journal* 27, no. 2 (March-April 2018): 83–106, https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/ASPJ/journals/Volume-27_ Issue-2/F-Corbett.pdf.
- 253 "Japan Adopts Space Security Policy and Vows to Expand Defense Use," *Japan Times*, June 13, 2023, https://www.japantimes.co.jp/news/2023/06/13/national/japan-space-stratea gy-china-russia/.
- 254 Andrew Jones, "Japan Creates Multibillion-Dollar Space Strategic Fund to Boost Space Industry," *SpaceNews*, March 12, 2024, https://spacenews.com/japan-creates-multibilliondollar-space-strategic-fund-to-boost-space-industry/.
- 255 U.S. Department of Defense, "Joint Statement of the 2023 U.S.-Japan Security Consultative Committee ("2+2")," Press release, January 11, 2023, https://www.defense.gov/News/ Releases/Release/Article/3265559/joint-statement-of-the-2023-usjapan-security-consultative-committee-22/; and "Japan-U.S. Security Treaty," Japan Ministry of Foreign Affairs, January 19, 1960, article V, https://www.mofa.go.jp/region/n-america/us/q&a/ref/1.html.
- 256 "Joint Statement of the Eighth Meeting of the Japan U.S. Comprehensive Dialogue on Space," U.S. Department of State, Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs, March 28, 2023, https://www.state.gov/joint-statement-of-the-eighthmeeting-of-the-japan-u-s-comprehensive-dialogue-on-space/.
- 257 Song Sang-ho, "S. Korea's Military Draws Up Maiden 'Defense Space Strategy'," Yonhap News Agency, December 9, 2022, https://en.yna.co.kr/view/AEN20221209006400325.
- 258 Ministry of Science and ICT, 제4차 우주개발진흥 기본계획 [The 4th Space Development Promotion Basic Plan] (Seoul: Government of South Korea, February 2023), translated by Google Translate, https://www.msit.go.kr/bbs/view.do?sCode=user&bbsSeqNo=65&nttSe& qNo=3017397; and Jennifer Hong Whetsell and Alice Cho, "Making Yoon's Space Vision a South Korean Reality," *The Diplomat*, April 3, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/04/makt ing-yoons-space-vision-a-south-korean-reality/.
- 259 Park Si-soo, "South Korea Sets Record Space Budget to Bolster Industry, Develop New Rocket," *SpaceNews*, March 31, 2023, https://spacenews.com/south-korea-sets-record-spacebudget-to-bolster-industry-develop-new-rocket/; and Lee Ho-jeong, "2023 Budget Finally Passed after Corporate Tax Compromise," *Korea JoongAng Daily*, last modified December 25, 2022, https://koreajoongangdaily.joins.com/2022/12/24/business/economy/2023budget-PPP-vs-DP-Yoon-Sukyeol-budget/20221224005712148.html.
- 260 Ministry of Science and ICT, The 4th Space Development Promotion Basic Plan.
- 261 Park Si-soo, "South Korea's KSLV-2 Rocket Launches Seven Satellites, One Unaccounted for," *SpaceNews*, May 25, 2023, https://spacenews.com/south-koreas-kslv-2-rocket-launch-

es-seven-satellites-one-unaccounted-for/; 박주용 [Park Ju-yong], "윤 대통령 "누리호 발 사 성공, 우주강국 G7 진입 쾌거" [President Yoon "Nuri's Launch Was Successful, a Feat of Entry into the G7 as a Space Powerhouse.], News Tomato, translated by Google Translate, May 25, 2023, https://www.newstomato.com/ReadNews.aspx?no=1189001.

- 262 Kim Na-young, "(LEAD) S. Korea Aims to Launch Full-Fledged Space Agency in May," Yonhap News Agency, January 11, 2024, https://en.yna.co.kr/view/AEN20240111005451320.
- 263 Ibid.
- 264 Baek Byung-yeul, "Space R&D Body Vows to Support New Space Agency," *Korea Times*, January 18, 2024, https://www.koreatimes.co.kr/www2/common/viewpage.asp?newsIdxe =367181&categoryCode=129.
- 265 "Significant Milestones in U.S.-ROK Space Cooperation," Project 2049 Institute, July 14, 2023, https://project2049.net/2023/07/14/significant-milestones-in-u-s-rok-space-cooperao tion/.
- 266 Bingen et al., Space Threat Assessment 2023, 36.
- 267 "Space Industrial Plan: from Ambition to Action Advancing UK Space Industry," Department for Science, Innovation, and Technology, March 7, 2024, https://www.gov.uk/govv ernment/publications/space-industrial-plan/space-industrial-plan-from-ambition-to-action-advancing-uk-space-industry.
- 268 Ministry of Defense, "SKYNET 6," GOV.UK, last modified March 4, 2024, https://www.gov.uk/ guidance/skynet-6#about-skynet.
- 269 Sandra Erwin, "U.S., U.K., Australia Sign Agreement to Jointly Operate Deep Space Radar Network," *SpaceNews*, December 2, 2023, https://spacenews.com/u-s-u-k-australia-sign-agreement-to-jointly-operate-deep-space-radar-network/.
- 270 Bella Richards, "What's Next for the UK National Space Strategy?," Royal Aeronautical Society, December 19, 2023, https://www.aerosociety.com/news/whats-next-for-the-uk-nationalspace-strategy/.
- 271 Anna Ribeiro, "GhostSec Hackers Target Satellite Receivers, as Threats toward Satellite Communication Networks Gradually Rise," Industrial Cyber, April 3, 2023, https://industrialcyber.co/threat-landscape/ghostsec-hackers-target-satellite-receivers-as-threats-toward-satellite-communication-networks-gradually-rise/; and Joel Francis, "Briefing 8: GhostSec Hackers Target Satellite Networks via GNSS Receivers," Kratos Defense, May 3, 2023, https://www.kratosdefense.com/constellations/articles/ghostsec-hackers-target-sate ellite-networks-via-gnss-receivers.
- 272 Brandon Vigliarolo, "Russian Military Satellite Comms Provider Offline after Hack," The Register, July 3, 2023, https://www.theregister.com/2023/07/03/infosec_in_brief/; and Net-Blocks (@netblocks), "Confirmed: Metrics Show a Disruption to Satellite Internet Provider Dozor-Teleport Which Supplies Russia's FSB, Gazprom, Rosatom and Military Installations; the Incident Comes amid a Wave of Cyberattacks by a Group Claiming Affiliation with Wagner PMC," X (formerly Twitter), June 29, 2023, 9:01 a.m., https://x.com/netblocks/stai tus/1674447946689986561?s=20.
- 273 Samia Nakhoul and Jonathan Saul, "How Hamas Duped Israel as It Planned Devastating Attack," Reuters, last modified October 8, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/middle-east/ how-israel-was-duped-hamas-planned-devastating-assault-2023-10-08/.
- 274 "Flights Misled over Position, Navigation Failure Follows," OPS Group, September 26, 2023, https://ops.group/blog/gps-spoof-attacks-irs; and Gault, "Commercial Flights Are Experis encing 'Unthinkable' GPS Attacks."
- 275 Avi Scharf, "GPS Jamming in Israel Spikes amid Regional Flare-Up," *Haaretz*, April 10, 2023, https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/security-aviation/2023-04-10/ty-article/. premium/gps-jamming-in-israel-spikes-amid-recent-flareup/00000187-6589-dcdb-a9af-eda9f9330000.
- 276 Robert Samuel Wilson, "Sino-Russian Space Cooperation and What It Means for the United States," in *Understanding the Broader Transatlantic Security Implications of Greater Sino-Russian Military Alignment*, eds. Max Bergmann and Andrew Lohsen (Washington, DC:

CSIS, 2022), 36, https://www.csis.org/analysis/understanding-broader-transatlantic-securin ty-implications-greater-sino-russian-military.

- 277 Daryna Antoniuk, "Russian Analysts Point Finger at China, North Korea over Cyber Activity," The Record, November 17, 2023, https://therecord.media/russian-analysts-point-fino ger-at-china.
- 278 Kevin Pollpeter et al., *China-Russia Space Cooperation: The Strategic, Military, Diplomatic, and Economic Implications of a Growing Relationship* (Montgomery, AL: China Aerospace Studies Institute, 2023), https://www.airuniversity.af.edu/Portals/10/CASI/documents/Rer search/Space/2023-05-08%20China%20Russia%20Space%20Cooperation.pdf#page=5.
- 279 Liu Zhen, "China's BeiDou and Russian GLONASS Sign New Deal to Rival America's GPS satellite Navigation," *South China Morning Post*, February 5, 2022, https://www.scmp.com/ news/china/diplomacy/article/3165924/chinas-beidou-and-russian-glonass-sign-new-deal-rival-americas/.
- 280 Wilson, "Sino-Russian Space Cooperation and What It Means for the United States," 37.
- 281 Office of the Secretary of Defense, *Military and Security Developments Involving the People's Republic of China*, 100.
- 282 "Putin Calls for Closer Russia-China Cooperation on Military Satellites and Prospective Weapons," Associated Press, November 8, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/russia-chi8 na-military-cooperation-d4fedabf86d88e2cc0074159294026f9.
- 283 David Brennan, "Strategic Space Cooperation between Russia and China Raises Alarm," *Newsweek*, March 6, 2024, https://www.newsweek.com/russia-china-space-cooperaition-raises-alarm-moon-1876342/.
- 284 Ibid.
- 285 "Debate on Disarmament Aspects of Outer Space Exposes First Committee Rift over Ways to Sustain Space Security, Prevent Domain's Weaponization," United Nations, October 20, 2023, https://press.un.org/en/2023/gadis3723.doc.htm; "Outer Space Becoming Contested Domain for Supremacy with Space-Based Communications, Intelligence Assets, Anti-Satellite Weapons, First Committee Hears," United Nations, October 19, 2023, https://press. un.org/en/2023/gadis3722.doc.htm; and "Speakers Renew Calls for Treaty to Prevent Arms Race in Space as First, Fourth Committees Convene Joint Meeting," United Nations, October 27, 2022, https://press.un.org/en/2022/gaspd761.doc.htm.
- "China, Egypt Sign Deals to Boost Lunar Exploration, Spacecraft Launching," *Global Times*, December 6, 2023, https://www.globaltimes.cn/page/202312/1303174.shtml; and Wall,
 "Not Just Artemis: China and Russia Plan to Put Boots on the Moon, Too."
- 287 Brian Weeden, "2022 Open-Ended Working Group on Reducing Space Threats," Secure World Foundation, last modified October 2023, https://swfound.org/media/207671/fs23-12_oewg-on-reducing-space-threats_1023.pdf.
- 288 Natasha Bertrand, "Russia Appears Poised to Purchase Ballistic Missiles from Iran, Official says," CNN, January 4, 2024, https://edition.cnn.com/2024/01/04/politics/russia-iran-mis1 siles-ukraine/index.html; and Andrew Hanna, "Iran's Ambitious Space Program," U.S. Instia tute of Peace, *The Iran Primer*, June 23, 2021, https://iranprimer.usip.org/blog/2020/jun/23/ iran%E2%80%99s-ambitious-space-program.
- 289 Neil MacFarquhar, Ronen Bergman, and Farnaz Fassihi, "Russia Launches Iranian Satellite, a Sign of Closer Cooperation," *New York Times*, August 9, 2022, https://www.nytimes. com/2022/08/09/world/middleeast/russia-iran-launch-satellite.html.
- 290 "Iran Plans Talks with Russia to Build New Satellite Report," TASS.
- 291 Ibid.
- 292 "Iran, Russia Working on Joint Research Spacecraft," Tasnim News Agency.
- 293 Zak, "Soyuz Launches a Weather Satellite and 18 Hitchhikers."
- 294 Matthew Karnitschnig, "Iran in Secret Talks with China, Russia to Acquire Sanctioned Missile Fuel," *Politico*, April 12, 2023, https://www.politico.eu/article/vladimir-putin-ukraine-war-xi-jinping-china-russia-in-secret-talks-to-supply-iran-missile-propellant/.

- 295 Dmytro Basmat, "ISW: Russia, Iran Preparing to Sign Treaty to Develop Military-Technological Cooperation," *Kyiv Independent*, January 16, 2024, https://kyivindependent.com/ isw-russia-iran-preparing-to-sign-treaty-to-develop-military-technological-cooperation/; "Iran Ready to Boost Space Cooperation with Russia: Official," Mehr News Agency, November 29, 2023, https://en.mehrnews.com/news/208953/Iran-ready-to-boost-space-cot operation-with-Russia-OfficialI; and "Iran Ready to Boost Space Cooperation with Russia, Embassy Official Says," TASS, November 28, 2023, https://tass.com/science/1713107.
- 296 Jones, "Iran Is Seeking Russian Assistance."
- 297 Basmat, "ISW."
- ²⁹⁸ "US, Partners Target North Korea with Sanctions after Satellite Launch," Reuters, December 1, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/us-partners-target-north-korea-with-sanctions-following-satellite-launch-2023-11-30/.
- 299 Lee Jeong-Ho, "N Korea Issues Nuclear Threat over US-S Korea Space Alliance," Radio Free Asia, November 2, 2023, https://www.rfa.org/english/news/korea/nkow rea-threat-11022023212742.html; Sang-Hun, "North Korea Launches Rocket with Its First Spy Satellite"; and Do Young Lee, "The Prospects for North Korea-Russia Nuclear Cooperation," *The Diplomat*, November 10, 2023, https://thediplomat.com/2023/11/the-prospects-for-north-korea-russia-nuclear-cooperation/.
- 300 Peter Baker, "North Korea Shipped Arms to Russia for Use in Ukraine, U.S. Says," *New York Times*, October 13, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/10/13/us/politics/north-korea-weapons-russia-ukraine.html.
- 301 Kim Tong-Hyung, "North Korean Leader Kim Jong Un Meets with Russian Defense Minister to Discuss Military Cooperation," Associated Press, last modified July 27, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/north-korea-kim-jong-un-shoigu-parade-037cb0dca2dda580dbdb3037dfd724a5.
- 302 "Talks between North Korea's Kim and Putin End in Russia: What Did They Say?," Al Jazeera, September 13, 2023, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/9/13/putin-kim-share-warmwelcomes-in-during-second-meeting-in-four-years.
- 303 Joseph S. Bermudez Jr., Victor Cha, and Jennifer Jun, "Dramatic Increase in DPRK-Russia Border Rail Traffic after Kim-Putin Summit," *Beyond Parallel*, CSIS, October 6, 2023, https:// beyondparallel.csis.org/dramatic-increase-in-dprk-russia-border-rail-traffic-after-kimputin-summit/; "North Korea's Space Launch Program and Long-Range Missile Projects," Reuters, November 22, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/technology/space/north-koreasspace-launch-program-long-range-missile-projects-2023-11-22/; and Paul Sonne and Choe Sang-Hun, "Putin and Kim Find Common Ground in Hostility toward the West," *New York Times*, September 13, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/09/13/world/asia/putin-kimrussia-north-korea.html.
- 304 Bermudez Jr., Cha, and Jun, "Dramatic Increase in DPRK-Russia Border Rail Traffic after Kim-Putin Summit."
- 305 Joseph S. Bermudez Jr., Victor Cha, and Jennifer Jun, "Ongoing Arms Transfer Activity at Najin Port," *Beyond Parallel*, CSIS, October 17, 2023, https://beyondparallel.csis.org/ongoy ing-arms-transfer-activity-at-najin-port/.
- 306 Ibid.
- 307 Islam Uddin, "Russia, North Korea Sign Protocol to Expand Ties in Trade, Technology," Anadolu Agency, last modified November 16, 2023, https://www.aa.com.tr/en/europe/russianorth-korea-sign-protocol-to-expand-ties-in-trade-technology/3055353; and "North Korea, Russia Discuss Expanding Economic Cooperation -KCNA," Reuters, November 15, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/north-korea-russia-discuss-expanding-economic-cooperation-kcna-2023-11-15/.

WHAT TO WATCH

308 United Nations Office for Disarmament Services, "Working Paper by the Takshashila Institution for the Third Session of the OEWG on Reducing Space Threats (A/AC.294/2023/ NGO/4)," UN Office for Disarmament Affairs, February 3, 2023, https://docs-library.unoda. org/Open-Ended_Working_Group_on_Reducing_Space_Threats_-_(2022)/A_AC294_2023_ NGO_4_TI.pdf.

- 309 Selam Gebrekidan, "Electronic Warfare Confounds Civilian Pilots, Far from Any Battlefield," *New York Times*, November 21, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/2023/11/21/world/europe/ ukraine-israel-gps-jamming-spoofing.html.
- 310 Isabel van Brugen, "Russia Deploying Starlink in Ukraine—Reports," *Newsweek*, February 8, 2024, https://www.newsweek.com/russia-starlink-ukraine-war-elon-musk-1868125.
- 311 Sandra Erwin, "Intelligence Analysts Confront the Reality of Deepfakes," *SpaceNews*, June 16, 2023, https://spacenews.com/intelligence-analysts-confront-the-reality-of-deepfakes/.
- 312 Bill Chappell, "The U.S. Has Special Rules for Satellites over One Country: Israel," NPR, November 16, 2023, https://www.npr.org/2023/11/16/1212889717/satellite-images-us-israł el-gaza.
- 313 Josh Holder, "Gaza after Nine Weeks of War," *New York Times*, December 12, 2023, https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2023/12/12/world/middleeast/gaza-strip-satellite-images-israel-invasion.html.
- 314 Chappell, "The U.S. Has Special Rules for Satellites over One Country: Israel."
- 315 Shlomo Karhi (@Shlomo_karhi), "Israel will use all means at its disposal to fight this. HAMAS will use it for terrorist activities. There is no doubt about it, we know it, and musk knows it. HAMAS is ISIS. Perhaps Musk would be willing to condition it with the release of our abducted babies, sons, daughters, elderly people. All of them! By then, my office will cut any ties with starlink." X (formerly Twitter), October 28, 2023, 9:53 a.m., https://twitter. com/shlomo_karhi/status/1718309963666211328.
- 316 Elsa Court, "Musk Says He Didn't Turn on Starlink near Crimea Due to US Sanctions on Russia," Yahoo News, September 13, 2023, https://news.yahoo.com/musk-says-didnt-turn-starlink-154613530.html.
- 317 "Elon Musk Says around 100 Starlinks Now Active in Iran," Reuters, December 27, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/technology/elon-musk-says-around-100-starlinks-now-activeiran-2022-12-26/.
- 318 Micah Maidenberg, James T. Areddy, and Tim Higgins, "SpaceX May Be Withholding Satellite Internet in Taiwan, Congressman Contends," *Wall Street Journal*, last modified February 24, 2024, https://www.wsj.com/tech/spacex-may-be-withholding-satellite-internet-in-tain wan-congressman-contends-8b58504c.
- 319 Marina Koren, "The Russian Space Program Is Falling Back to Earth," *The Atlantic*, October 14, 2022, https://www.theatlantic.com/science/archive/2022/10/us-russia-space-pro-grams-spacex-collaboration-ukraine/671740/.



CENTER FOR STRATEGIC & INTERNATIONAL STUDIES

1616 Rhode Island Avenue NW Washington, DC 20036 202 887 0200 | www.csis.org